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STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

 

On February 11th, 2019, Mr. Clark appeared with his attorneys Tony Garcia and Anna 

Mantegna in the Circuit Court for Howard County before The Honorable Timothy J. 

McCrone for a five-day jury trial on charges of second-degree murder, attempted second-

degree murder, two counts of first-degree and second-degree assault, and voluntary 

manslaughter.  

On the fourth day of trial, Mr. Clark testified on his own behalf. After Tony Garcia 

(hereafter “trial counsel”) finished his direct examination of Mr. Clark, the jury was 

released for the evening and the following colloquy occurred: 

THE SHERIFF: Sir, why don’t you go back to your counsel? 

THE COURT: And, Mr. Clark, before you do. 

[MR. CLARK]: Yes, sir. 

THE COURT: You can’t talk to anybody about the case this evening even Mr. Garcia  

and Ms. Mantegna. Okay? 

[MR. CLARK]: Okay. 

THE COURT: You can’t talk to anybody. It sounds counter intuitive. 

[MR. CLARK]: Yes. 

THE COURT: You can’t talk to your own attorney about the case. 

[MR. CLARK]: I understand, sir. 

THE COURT: Okay. You’re welcome to step down. Go back to [the] trial table. 

[MR. CLARK]: Okay. All right. 
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(E. 23-24). 

Trial counsel did not object. 

On April 12th, 2018, the jury convicted Mr. Clark of voluntary manslaughter, attempted 

second-degree murder, and both counts of second-degree assault, leading the trial court to 

sentence Mr. Clark to fifty years’ incarceration on May 22nd, 2018. 

On June 29th, 2020, the Court of Special Appeals issued an unreported opinion 

affirming Mr. Clark’s conviction and sentence. It rejected Mr. Clark’s argument that the 

trial court’s order against communicating with his attorneys violated his right to counsel, 

stating: 

We confess that we cannot think of any reason why counsel would opt not to 

object to the trial judge’s instruction that Mr. Clark not consult with his 

attorney overnight. But we also cannot eliminate the possibility, however 

slim, that counsel had a legitimate strategic or tactical reason for letting the 

instruction go, and there’s no record on which we can evaluate the question. 

Mr. Clark will have the opportunity to develop that record on post-

conviction. 

 

Clark v. State, No. 486,  Sept. Term, 2019 (Md. Ct. Spec. App. June 29, 2020), at 8. 

On July 29th, 2021, Mr. Clark reappeared in the circuit court for a hearing on his 

petition for post-conviction relief. Mr. Clark, through counsel, argued, in part, that trial 

counsel violated his right to effective assistance of counsel by not objecting to the trial 

court’s gag order.  

 On September 28th, 2021, the Circuit Court for Howard County, through The 

Honorable Mary M. Kramer, issued The Statement of Reasons, ordering a new trial because 

trial counsel violated Mr. Clark’s right to effective assistance of counsel by not objecting 
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to the trial court’s gag order. The post-conviction court found that trial counsel’s 

performance was deficient because “none of trial counsel’s testimony indicated that there 

was a legitimate strategic or tactical reason for letting the instruction go”. (E. 94). The post-

conviction court  also noted: “The Sixth Amendment right to counsel belongs solely to the 

individual on trial and cannot be waived by his attorney”. Id. “Petitioner was prejudiced”, 

it continued, “by trial counsel’s failure to object not only because he was deprived of his 

Sixth Amendment right to counsel during the overnight recess, but also because he was not 

able to raise the issue on appeal due to trial counsel’s failure to object to the erroneous 

instruction.”. Id.  

Additionally, the post-conviction court held that, but for its award of a new trial, it 

would “recommend that Petitioner be permitted to make a belated Motion for a New Trial”. 

Id. at 14. 

On July 28th, 2022, a majority of the Court of Special Appeals, through The Honorable 

Kathryn Graeff, issued a reported opinion reversing the post-conviction court’s order for a 

new trial. See Appx. at 1-21. The court declined to address trial counsel’s deficient 

performance, and held that Mr. Clark failed to meet his burden of proving that he was 

unduly prejudiced by trial counsel’s failure to object. Id. at 12. 

The Honorable Douglas Nazarian issued a dissenting opinion analogizing the violation 

of Mr. Clark’s right to counsel to the violation of the right to counsel in Geders v. United 

States, 425 U.S. 80 (1976), and stating that Mr. Clark should not be required to prove 

prejudice from trial counsel’s failure to object. Appx. at 23. 
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On August 15th, 2022, Mr. Clark filed a timely Petition for Writ of Certiorari seeking 

to reverse the judgment of the Court of Special Appeals and affirm the post-conviction 

court’s order for a new trial.  

On November 18th, 2022, this Court granted Mr. Clark’s Petition for Writ of Certiorari. 

QUESTIONS PRESENTED 

I. Is requiring Mr. Clark to prove prejudice from trial counsel not objecting to an 

overnight gag order an unprecedented impractical violation of his right to counsel that 

ignores his right to confer with trial counsel privately? 

II. Does permitting trial counsel to waive Mr. Clark’s right to speak with him during an 

overnight recess violate Mr. Clark’s constitutional right to counsel? 

III. Did the post-conviction court correctly hold that trial counsel’s failure to preserve the 

violation of Mr. Clark’s right to counsel for appeal was unduly prejudicial?  

IV. Was trial counsel’s failure to object to the violation of Mr. Clark’s right to counsel due 

to mere ignorance of the law deficient performance? 

STATEMENT OF FACTS 

 

On December 25th, 2017 at approximately 9:00 p.m., one of two so-called victims, 

Warner Jackson, spat in Mr. Clark’s face inside of Quick Stop Mart Food Mart (“Quick 

Mart”) at the Trellis Center in Columbia, Maryland. A fight ensued, and Mr. Clark 

defended himself and his wife, Latisha Cox, against Mr. Jackson and the other so-called 

victim, James Fallin. Pavankumar Patel, a clerk working at Quick Mart, testified that Mr. 

Fallin and Mr. Jackson were, “beating [] up [Mr. Clark] and he was trying to fight back”. 
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Transcript of Proceedings from February 12th, 2019, at 50. Mr. Clark stabbed the 

assailants in defense of Ms. Cox and himself. Mr. Fallin and Mr. Jackson fled the store. 

Mr. Fallin perished. Mr. Jackson recovered. 

STANDARD OF REVIEW 

 

Ineffective assistance of counsel arises from deficient performance that unduly 

prejudiced the defendant. Andrus v. Texas, 140 S.Ct. 1875, 1881 (2020). Factual findings 

of ineffective assistance of counsel are reviewed for clear error. Wallace v. State, 475 Md. 

639, 653 (2021). Legal conclusions are reviewed de novo. Id. 

ARGUMENT 

 

Requiring Mr. Clark to prove prejudice from trial counsel not objecting to the trial 

court’s order prohibiting their communication about his case during an overnight recess 

eviscerates his constitutional right to effective assistance of counsel, permits trial counsel 

to waive the right to counsel belonging to Mr. Clark, disregards the post-conviction court’s 

finding of prejudice based on trial counsel’s duty to preserve meritorious issues for appeal, 

and overlooks trial counsel’s ignorance of the law.  

I. REQUIRING MR. CLARK TO PROVE PREJUDICE FROM TRIAL COUNSEL 

NOT OBJECTING TO AN OVERNIGHT GAG ORDER IS AN UNPRECEDENTED 

IMPRACTICAL VIOLATION OF HIS RIGHT TO COUNSEL THAT IGNORES 

HIS RIGHT TO CONFER WITH TRIAL COUNSEL PRIVATELY. 

“The purpose of the constitutional guaranty of a right to counsel is to protect an accused 

from conviction resulting from his own ignorance of his legal and constitutional rights, and 

the guaranty would be nullified by a determination that an accused's ignorant failure to 
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claim his rights removes the protection of the Constitution.” Johnson v. Zerbst, 304 U.S. 

458, 465 (1938). The defendant is “spared the [] need of showing probable effect upon the 

outcome, and [the Court has] simply presumed such effect, where assistance of counsel has 

been denied entirely or during a critical stage of the proceeding”, in which case, “the 

likelihood that the verdict is unreliable is so high that a case-by-case inquiry is 

unnecessary”. Mickens v. Taylor, 535 U.S. 162, 166 (2002). “Having already been 

subjected to an improper judicial order, it would be anomalous if [a] defendant was also 

forced to relinquish the right to have his discussions with his lawyer kept confidential.” 

Mudd v. United States, 798 F.2d 1509, 1513 (D.C. Cir. 1986). 

A. All binding precedent and most non-binding cases favor presuming prejudice. 

 

The United States Supreme Court, Maryland’s appellate courts, most federal circuit 

court of appeals, and most state appellate courts have applied a presumption of prejudice 

for defendants like Mr. Clark who were prohibited from speaking with their attorneys 

during an overnight recess. 

i. Supreme Court precedent warrants presuming prejudice.  

 

Supreme Court precedent addressing orders prohibiting a criminal defendant from 

speaking with his attorney during a recess, Geders v. United States, 425 U.S. 80 (1976), 

and Perry v. Leeke, 488 U.S. 272 (1989), confirm that prejudice should be presumed here. 

Though not binding, Justice Sonia Sotomayor’s dissent from the denial of a writ of 

certiorari in Hernandez v. Peery, 141 S. Ct. 2231 (2021), also addressing an order 

prohibiting a criminal defendant from speaking with his attorney during a recess, furthers 



 

7 
 

 

 

the presumption of prejudice from Geders and Perry when the recess is overnight between 

a defendant’s direct and cross-examination.  

 Supreme Court precedent addressing the presumption of prejudice in contexts other 

than orders against communication between counsel and a defendant also show that Mr. 

Clark is not required to retroactively prove prejudice, specifically: Holloway v. Arkansas, 

435 U.S. 475 (1978), United States v. Cronic, 466 U.S. 648 (1984), Delaware v. Van 

Arsdall, 475 U.S. 673 (1986), Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984), Mickens v. 

Taylor, 535 U.S. 162 (2002), and Bell v. Cone, 535 U.S. 685 (2002). 

a. Supreme Court Cases with gag orders justify presuming prejudice. 

In Geders v. United States, 425 U.S. 80 (1976), the Supreme Court reviewed an order 

from the United States District Court for the Middle District of Florida prohibiting John 

Geders and his attorney from communicating about Mr. Geders’s case during a seventeen-

hour overnight recess following Mr. Geders’s direct examination. The discussion 

surrounding that order was, in relevant part: 

[THE GOVERNMENT]: Has this witness been instructed now that he is 

not to talk to anyone whatsoever, including his attorneys or anyone about 

this case at all? 

 

[TRIAL COUNSEL]: If he were instructed not to talk to his attorney, I feel 

that it would be improper. I think I always have the right to talk to my client. 

 

[THE GOVERNMENT]: I don't think so. 

 

THE COURT: Well, I don't know whether you requested that I so instruct 

another witness when there was a recess, to that effect; but you do let's make 

this clear you always have the right to talk to your client but except for the 
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accident and ‘accident’ means something over which you have no control the 

cross-examination would have been right now and you would not have had 

an opportunity to talk to him. Now, because of the fact that it is 5:00 o'clock 

and we are recessing until tomorrow, you would have that opportunity. If you 

had requested the opportunity and this had been 2:00 o'clock and if you had 

said ‘If the Court please, I would like to have a recess' and then, outside the 

presence of the Jury, had said, ‘because I want to talk to my client’; what 

would I have said? 

 

[TRIAL COUNSEL]: You probably would not have granted the recess, Your 

Honor. 

 

THE COURT: Should I have? 

 

[TRIAL COUNSEL]: Not if there was something else to do, Your Honor. 

 

THE COURT: Well would you have had a right to just talk to your client 

while he is subject to cross-examination? 

 

[TRIAL COUNSEL]: Well, I would not. 

 

THE COURT: Would you have? 

 

[TRIAL COUNSEL]: I would not instruct my client anyway. 

 

THE COURT: Well would you have talked to him? Would you have had a 

right to confer with him? That is what I want to know. 

 

[TRIAL COUNSEL]: If there were matters that I felt I had not brought out 

on Direct and that I should have covered. 

 

THE COURT: Before he is cross-examined? 

 

[TRIAL COUNSEL]: Even before he is cross-examined. Sometimes we 

remember things we did not. . . .  

 

[THE COURT]: I think he would understand it if I told him just not to talk 

to you. And I just think it is better that he not talk to you about anything. I 

think you might ask him right now right here while we are here what 

witnesses he thinks you ought to call in the morning. Let's put it this way. 

Your ask [sic] him right now if he thinks there are any witnesses you ought 
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to call during the evening. If anything comes up after he has been cross-

examined, and after you have had an opportunity for re-direct, we would have 

a recess and you would have all the time you need to talk to him about 

strategies or anything else. We will take the rest of this month, if necessary, 

to give you an opportunity and him an opportunity for a fair trial. But we are 

not going to let strategy take the place of this situation. And I have held that 

I find that I don't think you would do anything wrong; but I think it would be 

better, under the circumstances of this case. And that is my ruling. . . .  Now, 

Mr. Geders, will you stand up. I direct you not to discuss your testimony in 

this case with anyone until you are back here tomorrow morning at 9:30 for 

the purpose of being cross-examined. Do you understand that? 

 

MR. GEDERS: I understand. 

 

THE COURT: All right, thank you. All right, the Court will be in recess. 

 

Id. at 83 n.1. As noted by the Supreme Court, “The ambiguity of this colloquy appears to 

be resolved by the direction that petitioner ‘not talk to you (counsel) about anything.’ ” Id. 

Mr. Geders, who was ultimately convicted of possession of marijuana, and conspiracy 

to import and illegal importation of controlled substances, unsuccessfully appealed his 

conviction and sentence to the United States Circuit Court of Appeals for the Fifth Circuit 

arguing that the trial court’s gag order violated his constitutional right to counsel.  

The Supreme Court reversed the Fifth Circuit’s judgment, stating: 

It is common practice during such recesses for an accused and counsel to 

discuss the events of the day's trial. Such recesses are often times of intensive 

work, with tactical decisions to be made and strategies to be reviewed. The 

lawyer may need to obtain from his client information made relevant by the 

day's testimony, or he may need to pursue inquiry along lines not fully 

explored earlier. At the very least, the overnight recess during trial gives the 

defendant a chance to discuss with counsel the significance of the day's 

events. Our cases recognize that the role of counsel is important precisely 

because ordinarily a defendant is ill-equipped to understand and deal with 

the trial process without a lawyer's guidance. 
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Id. at 88 (emphasis added)1.  

The Geders court did not require evidence of prejudice, let alone expect Mr. Geders to 

provide it. Indeed, the Geders court was concerned with neither Mr. Geders’s silence 

(beyond saying, “I understand”) after the trial court’s order nor trial counsel’s statement 

that he would not have spoken with Mr. Geders before cross-examination even if he were 

permitted to do so. 425 U.S. at 83 n.1 (“I would not instruct my client anyway”).  

The Geders court was clear that a defendant “requires the guiding hand of counsel at 

every step in the proceedings against him” including the overnight recess between his direct 

and cross-examination. Geders, 425 U.S. at 89 (quoting Powell, 287 U.S. at 68-69) 

(emphasis added). 

In Perry v. Leeke, 488 U.S. 272 (1989), the Supreme Court affirmed the judgment of 

the United States Court of Appeals for the Fourth Circuit, which held that the United States 

District Court for the District of South Carolina erroneously granted Donald Perry’s habeas 

corpus petition and reversed his conviction and sentence for murder, kidnapping, and 

sexual assault in the General Sessions Court of Richland County, South Carolina. The 

Supreme Court agreed with the Fourth Circuit that an order by the trial court prohibiting 

 
1 Mr. Clark understands that when evaluating deficient performance, “the question is 

whether an attorney's representation amounted to incompetence under prevailing 

professional norms, not whether it deviated from best practices or most common custom”. 

Harrington v. Richter, 562 U.S. 86, 105 (2011). Mr. Clark is not asserting that the 

“common practice during such recesses . . .” is indicative of Mr. Garcia’s deficient 

performance. Geders, 425 U.S. at 88. This part of the quote was only provided for context 

leading to the Geders court’s conclusion. 
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communication between Mr. Perry and his attorney during a fifteen-minute recess 

following Mr. Perry’s his direct-examination did not deprive Mr. Perry of his right to 

counsel. Id. at 280-281.  

The Court began its analysis by considering the presumption of prejudice in Geders. It 

found “merit in [Mr. Perry’s] argument that a showing of prejudice is not an essential 

component of a violation of the rule announced in Geders”, and noted: “In [Geders], we 

simply reversed the defendant's conviction without pausing to consider the extent of the 

actual prejudice, if any, that resulted from the defendant's denial of access to his lawyer 

during the overnight recess.” Perry, 488 U.S. at 278-279 (emphasis added). The Court also 

clarified its citation to Geders in Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984), stating: 

“Our citation of Geders in this context was intended to make clear that ‘[a]ctual or 

constructive denial of the assistance of counsel altogether,’ is not subject to the kind of 

prejudice analysis that is appropriate in determining whether the quality of a lawyer's 

performance itself has been constitutionally ineffective.” Id. at 280 (quoting Strickland, 

466 U.S. at 692). 

Focusing more directly on the right to counsel, the Court held that a defendant “has no 

constitutional right to consult with his lawyer while he is testifying”, and, “it is entirely 

appropriate for a trial judge to decide, after listening to the direct examination of any 

witness . . . . that cross-examination is more likely to elicit truthful responses if it goes 

forward without allowing the witness an opportunity to consult with third parties, including 

his or her lawyer.”. Perry, 488 U.S. at 281. 
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 However, the Court carefully distinguished the propriety of trial court orders like those 

in Mr. Perry’s case that prohibit communication between a defendant and his attorney a 

short recess, i.e., fifteen-minutes, from the seventeen-hour overnight recess in Geders: 

The interruption in Geders was of a different character because the normal 

consultation between attorney and client that occurs during an overnight 

recess would encompass matters that go beyond the content of the 

defendant's own testimony—matters that the defendant does have a 

constitutional right to discuss with his lawyer, such as the availability of other 

witnesses, trial tactics, or even the possibility of negotiating a plea bargain. 

It is the defendant's right to unrestricted access to his lawyer for advice on a 

variety of trial-related matters that is controlling in the context of a long 

recess. See Geders v. United States, 425 U.S., at 88, 96 S.Ct., at 1335. The 

fact that such discussions will inevitably include some consideration of the 

defendant's ongoing testimony does not compromise that basic right. But in 

a short recess in which it is appropriate to presume that nothing but the 

testimony will be discussed, the testifying defendant does not have a 

constitutional right to advice. 

 

Id. at 284 (emphasis added). 

Unlike Perry, there is “no principled distinction between the circumstances of Geders 

and this case . . .”. Appx. at 28. Both Mr. Geders and Mr. Clark were prevented from 

speaking with their attorneys during the overnight recess between their direct and cross 

examinations. Both Mr. Geders and Mr. Clark had the same right to confer with trial 

counsel during the overnight recess between his direct and cross-examination. And both 

Mr. Geders and Mr. Clark were ill-equipped to understand the trial process without trial 

counsel’s assistance. Therefore, Mr. Clark is entitled to the same presumption of prejudice 

as Mr. Geders and the Court of Special Appeals’s judgment should be reversed. 
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b. Justice Sotomayor’s dissent maintains the presumption of prejudice. 

In Hernandez v. Peery, 141 S. Ct. 2231, 2235 (2021), the Supreme Court denied a 

petition for writ of certiorari involving an order from the Superior Court of Santa Cruz 

County, California. The order prohibited trial counsel from discussing with the petitioner-

defendant, Jacob Hernandez, a signed declaration by a co-defendant witness, about that 

witness’s role in the attempted murder that Mr. Hernandez was ultimately convicted of.  

Mr. Perry petitioned for a writ of habeas corpus in the United States District Court for 

the Northern District of California, challenging the California Supreme Court’s holding 

that he was required, and failed to, prove prejudice from the trial court’s order.  

Justice Sonia Sotomayor wrote a dissenting opinion arguing that the Ninth Circuit Court 

of Appeals’s refusal to issue a certificate of appealability following the denial of Mr. 

Hernandez’s habeas corpus petition to the District Court was erroneous, and that the United 

States Supreme Court should have granted his petition for writ of certiorari and summarily 

reversed the Ninth Circuit’s order.  

Justice Sonia Sotomayor emphasized the validity of presuming prejudice when a 

defendant is ordered not to communicate with his attorney during an overnight recess: 

This Court has decided two cases involving court-ordered interferences with 

attorney-client communication: Geders v. United States and Perry v. Leeke. 

In Geders, the Court held that a defendant's Sixth Amendment right to 

counsel was violated when the trial court prohibited him from speaking with 

his attorney during an overnight recess that interrupted his testimony. 425 

U.S., at 91 . . . The Court thus held that the “sustained barrier to 

communication between [the] defendant and his lawyer” unconstitutionally 

“impinged upon [the defendant's] right to the assistance of counsel 
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guaranteed by the Sixth Amendment.” Id., at 91. The Court reversed the 

defendant's conviction. Ibid. 

 

Later, in Perry, the Court considered “whether the Geders rule applie[d]” to 

an order directing a defendant not to consult with his attorney during a 15-

minute recess in the middle of the defendant's testimony. 488 U.S., at 274, 

109 S.Ct. 594. The court below had declined to reverse the defendant's 

conviction “because the error was not prejudicial.” Id., at 276. Perry soundly 

rejected that reasoning. The Court observed that, “consistent with . . . the 

fundamental importance of the criminal defendant's constitutional right to be 

represented by counsel”, Geders had “simply reversed the defendant's 

conviction without pausing to consider the extent of the actual prejudice.” 

488 U.S., at 279. 

 

Taken together, Geders and Perry require automatic reversal whenever a 

court unjustifiably denies a defendant access to counsel during trial.  

 

Id.at 2235 (emphasis added).  

Hence, Justice Sotomayor’s dissenting opinion reinforces the Supreme Court’s 

precedent that orders prohibiting communication between criminal defendants and their 

attorneys in an overnight recess between the defendants direct and cross-examination are 

presumptively prejudicial. Accordingly, the Court of Special Appeals’s judgment should 

be reversed. 

c. Supreme Court Cases in other contexts show that prejudice is presumed. 

In Holloway v. Arkansas, 435 U.S. 475 (1978), the Court reversed the conviction and 

sentence of Winston Holloway and other defendants for robbery with the use of a firearm 

and rape due to a conflict of interests, stating that “reversal is automatic” when a defendant 
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is “deprived of the presence and assistance of his attorney, either throughout the 

prosecution or during a critical stage”2. Id. at 489. 

In United States v. Cronic, 466 U.S. 648 (1984), the Court reversed the judgment of the 

Tenth Circuit Court of Appeals and affirmed Harrison Cronic’s conviction in the United 

States District Court for the Western District of Oklahoma for eleven counts of mail fraud 

and unlawful use of a fictitious name. Despite rejecting Mr. Cronic’s claim of ineffective 

assistance from various factors including his attorney’s inexperience, limited preparation, 

and youth, the Supreme Court explained that criminal defendants are not required to prove 

prejudice to show ineffective assistance of counsel where “there are [] circumstances that 

are so likely to prejudice the accused that the cost of litigating their effect in a particular 

case is unjustified.” Id. at 658. The Court cited Geders as one of those circumstances due 

to the “complete denial of counsel” during a critical stage of trial. Id. at 658 & 659 n.2. 

 
2 The Supreme Court, Court of Special Appeals, and several of the United States Circuit 

Courts of appeals have recognized that an overnight recess between a defendant’s direct 

and cross-examination is a “critical stage” of a criminal trial. See United States v. Cronic, 

466 U.S. 648, 659 n.25 (1984), Bell v. Cone, 535 U.S. 685 (2002), Walker v. State, 161 

Md. App. 253, 266, & n.12 (2005), aff'd, 391 Md. 233 (2006); United States v. Cavallo, 

790 F.3d 1202, 1213 (11th Cir. 2015), Schmidt v. Foster, 911 F.3d 469, 478 (7th Cir. 2018); 

Mitchell v. Mason, 325 F.3d 732, 743 (6th Cir. 2003); United States v. Torres, No. 20-

50092, 2021 WL 1991215 (5th Cir. May 19, 2021); Ayala v. Wong, 756 F.3d 656, 674 (9th 

Cir. 2014), rev'd on other grounds by Davis v. Ayala, 576 U.S. 257 (2015); United States 

v. Decoster, 624 F.2d 196, 235 (D.C. Cir. 1976), judgment entered, 598 F.2d 311 (D.C. 

Cir. 1979); United States v. Triumph Cap. Grp., Inc., 487 F.3d 124, 135 (2d Cir. 2007). 
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In Delaware v. Van Arsdall, 475 U.S. 673 (1986), the Court reversed Robert Van 

Arsdall’s murder conviction, holding that the Superior Court of Kent County’s ruling 

prohibiting Mr. Van Arsdall’s inquiry into the possibility that a witness was biased by the 

state's dismissal of his pending public drunkenness charge violated Mr. Van Arsdall’s 

constitutional right to confrontation. Id. at 679. Though holding that the violation was 

subject to harmless error analysis, the Court also explained when a harmless error analysis 

is not appropriate:  

The harmless-error doctrine recognizes the principle that the central purpose 

of a criminal trial is to decide the factual question of the defendant's guilt or 

innocence, and promotes public respect for the criminal process by focusing 

on the underlying fairness of the trial rather than on the virtually inevitable 

presence of immaterial error. At the same time we have observed that some 

constitutional errors—such as denying a defendant the assistance of 

counsel at trial or compelling him to stand trial before a trier of fact with a 

financial stake in the outcome—are so fundamental and pervasive that 

they require reversal without regard to the facts or circumstances of the 

particular case. 

 

Id. at 681. 

In Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984), the Court affirmed David 

Washington’s murder conviction from the United States District Court for the Southern 

District of Florida and rejected Mr. Washington’s claim that his trial attorney’s failure to 

present character witnesses or request a psychiatric examination or presentence report for 

the sentencing hearing was ineffective assistance of counsel. Id. at 699. Discussing the 

“vital importance of counsel’s assistance”, the Court observed: “Government violates the 

right to effective assistance when it interferes in certain ways with the ability of counsel to 
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make independent decisions about how to conduct the defense”, then cited Geders. Id. at 

686. 

In Mickens v. Taylor, 535 U.S. 162 (2002), the Court rejected Walter Mickens, Jr.’s 

claim of ineffective assistance from his trial attorney and affirmed his conviction and 

sentence for murder because Mr. Mickens failed to show prejudice from his attorney’s 

deficient performance. Id.  at 173-174. However, the Court distinguished the need to show 

prejudice in Mr. Mickens’s case from cases where a defendant is “spared the [] need of 

showing the probable effect upon the outcome and [the Court] simply presumed such 

affect” due to the complete denial of counsel or the denial of counsel during a critical stage 

of the proceeding. Id. at 166. “When that has occurred, the likelihood that the verdict is 

unreliable is so high that a case-by-case inquiry is unnecessary.” Id. (citing Geders v. 

United States, 425 U.S. 80 (1976), and Gideon v. Wainwright, 372 U.S. 335 (1963)). 

In Bell v. Cone, 535 U.S. 685 (2002), the Court affirmed the Tennessee Court of 

Appeals’s denial of Gary Cone’s habeas corpus petition, which alleged that his attorney’s 

assistance was ineffective at sentencing, because Mr. Cone failed to prove prejudice from 

his attorney’s deficient performance. Id. at 701-702. However, the Court also reaffirmed 

its holding in Geders as one of the cases where it “found a Sixth Amendment error without 

requiring a showing of prejudice”. Id. at 696 n. 3. 

The above cases confirm that Mr. Clark is not required to retroactively prove prejudice 

from the violation of his constitutional right to effective assistance of counsel. Prejudice is 

presumed. The Court of Special Appeals’s judgment should be reversed. 
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ii. Maryland precedent does not require retroactive proof of prejudice. 

Clark v. State, No. 486,  Sept. Term, 2019 (Md. Ct. Spec. App. June 29, 2020), Wooten-Bey 

v. State, 318 Md. 301 (1990), Snyder v. State, 104 Md. App. 533 (1995), and Walker v. 

State, 161 Md. App. 253 (2005), aff'd, 391 Md. 233 (2006), show that prejudice should be 

presumed.   

a. Clark v. State, No. 486,  Sept. Term, 2019 (Md. Ct. Spec. App. June 29, 2020). 

 

On direct appeal, the Court of Special Appeals denied Mr. Clark relief from the Geders 

violation because it, “c[ould not] eliminate the possibility, however slim, that counsel had 

legitimate strategic or tactical reason for letting the instruction go . . .”. Clark v. State, CSA-

REG-1614-2021 (June 29th, 2020). The court did not state or imply that Mr. Clark had to 

show or prove anything about his action or inaction during the post-conviction proceedings 

to obtain relief. Hence, the Court of Special Appeals’s most recent decision that Mr. Clark 

is required to prove prejudice from trial counsel’s failure to object to the trial court’s gag 

order contradicts its prior holding. Its judgment should be reversed.  

b. Wooten-Bey v. State, 318 Md. 301 (1990), favors presuming prejudice. 

Ronald Wooten-Bey was tried by a jury in the Circuit Court for Prince George’s County 

for, inter alia, conspiracy to commit robbery. Wooten-Bey, 318 Md. at 302. The  court took 

a seventy-five-minute lunch recess near the end of his direct examination3, and, over trial 

counsel’s objection, prohibited communication between Mr. Wooten-Bey and his attorney 

 
3 Mr. Wooten-Bey’s trial attorney only had “two brief questions” remaining. Id. 304. 
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during that recess, stating: “[Y]ou may not now discuss with anybody, including [your 

attorney] anything about your testimony on the witness stand, because you are 

sequestered.” Id. at 303. After the recess, counsel finished his direct-examination of Mr. 

Wooten-Bey, which was followed by cross, redirect, and recross examination. Id. at 304.  

Then, Mr. Wooten-Bey’s attorney told the court that Mr. Wooten-Bey wanted to be 

recalled to testify because he felt “rushed” during his testimony, leading the court  to permit 

a conference between Mr. Wooten-Bey and counsel. Wooten-Bey, 318 Md. at 304. 

Afterwards, Mr. Wooten-Bey decided not to testify again. Id. 

Mr. Wooten-Bey was ultimately convicted and sentenced to life imprisonment, which 

was affirmed by the Court of Special Appeals. The court rejected Mr. Wooten-Bey’s 

argument that the trial court’s order against communicating with his attorney during the 

recess violated his right to counsel. Id. at 609. It held that Mr. Wooten-Bey “failed to show 

that the deprivation of counsel . . . compromised his right to a fair trial”. Id. at 609. The 

court also “declined [] to impose a per se rule of reversal where the denial of access was 

brief, limited in scope, and where the trial judge gave counsel and appellant time to confer 

when it became apparent that they needed to do so, thus curing any constitutional defect”. 

Id. at 609. 

This Court affirmed the Court of Special Appeals’s judgment. It analogized the order 

and seventy-five-minute recess in Mr. Wooten-Bey’s case to the order and fifteen-minute 

recess in Perry v. Leeke, 488 U.S. 272 (1989). This Court also applied the holding from 

Perry that, “in a short recess [] it is appropriate to presume that nothing but the testimony 
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will be discussed, [and] the testifying defendant does not have a constitutional right to 

advice”. Wooten-Bey v. State, 318 Md. 301, 308 (1990) (quoting Perry, 488 U.S. at 284). 

Additionally, this Court emphasized the language from the circuit court’s order that Mr. 

Wooten-Bey could not discuss anything about his “testimony on the witness stand” with 

his attorney without restricting communication about the case. Wooten-Bey, 318 Md. at 

308 (emphasis in original).  

Concomitantly, this Court acknowledged the presumption of prejudice in Geders and 

insinuated that it would have applied that presumption of prejudice if Mr. Wooten-Bey’s 

deprivation of counsel involved an overnight recess, rather than a mere seventy-five-

minute lunch recess and “an opportunity to consult with counsel” afterwards. Wooten-Bey, 

318 Md. at 304. This Court elaborated: 

The interruption in Geders is distinguishable because the normal consultation 

between attorney and client that occurs during an overnight recess would 

encompass matters that go beyond the content of the defendant's own 

testimony—matters that the defendant does have a constitutional right to 

discuss with his lawyer, such as the availability of other witnesses, trial 

tactics, or even the possibility of negotiating a plea bargain. It is the 

defendant's right to unrestricted access to his lawyer for advice on a variety 

of trial related matters that is controlling in the context of a long recess. 

Id. at  308 n. 4 (quoting Geders, 488 U.S. at 284) (emphasis added). 

Unlike Wooten-Bey, the recess in Mr. Clark’s case – which was overnight – was not 

“brief [and] limited in scope”, and the trial court did not “cur[e] any constitutional defect” 

by giving Mr. Clark and trial counsel time to confer. Wooten-Bey, 318 Md. at 305 (quoting 
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76 Md. App. at 616). Therefore, Wooten-Bey favors presuming prejudice in this case and 

the Court of Special Appeals’s judgment should be reversed.  

c. Snyder v. State, 104 Md. App. 533 (1995), favors presuming prejudice. 

In Snyder, William Snyder was tried by a jury in the Circuit Court for Baltimore County 

for first and second-degree murder. Mr. Snyder’s testimony in his defense was interrupted 

by an overnight recess. Id. Before adjourning, the court gave the following order: “[Mr. 

Snyder], you're still on the stand, you have not had your cross-examination, you're, 

therefore, not allowed during the recess or overnight to talk to even [your attorney] about 

your testimony in this case; do you understand that?” Id. When Mr. Snyder responded, “I 

can't talk to my lawyer?”, the court replied, “No, not about the case, not about your 

testimony.” Id.     

The next day, Mr. Snyder’s cross-examination was interrupted by a lunch recess and 

the court ordered that trial counsel was still prohibited from speaking with Mr. Snyder 

about the case and Mr. Snyder’s testimony. Snyder, 104 Md. App. at 561.  

On appeal, Mr. Snyder, who was ultimately convicted of first-degree murder and 

sentenced to life imprisonment, argued that the trial court’s gag order violated his right to 

counsel. Snyder, 104 Md. App. at 537.  

Despite deciding that trial counsel’s failure to object to the gag order made the issue 

unpreserved for appellate review, the Court of Special Appeals addressed and rejected Mr. 

Snyder’s argument because the trial court “did not preclude all contact or discussions with 

trial counsel and did not interfere with appellant's constitutional right to discuss issues with 
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his attorney regarding the availability of other witnesses, trial tactics, or the possibility of 

negotiating a plea bargain”. Snyder, 104 Md. App. at 563 (emphasis added).  

Unlike Snyder, the trial court’s order in this case, “You can’t talk to anybody about the 

case this evening even [trial counsel]”, removed all communication between Mr. Clark and 

trial counsel and did interfere with Mr. Clark’s “right to unrestricted access to his lawyer 

for advice on a variety of trial related matters”. Snyder, 104 Md. App. at 563 (quoting 

Wooten-Bey, 318 Md. at 308 n .4).  

d. Walker v. State, 161 Md. App. 253 (2005), favors presuming prejudice. 

Leon Walker was by tried by a jury in the Circuit Court for Montgomery County, 

convicted of nine counts of theft and one count of conspiracy to commit theft, and 

sentenced to twenty-four years’ imprisonment, each affirmed on appeal.  

On post-conviction and appeal from the denial of post-conviction relief, Mr. Walker 

alleged that his trial attorney’s performance was deficient for remaining silent throughout 

trial, and that prejudice should be presumed from it due to: (1) constructive denial of 

counsel, and (2) structural error. 161 Md. App. at 260.  

Although the Court of Special Appeals rejected both of Mr. Walker’s claims, it stated, 

“[e]ven before Cronic, the Supreme Court found error without any showing of 

ineffectiveness when counsel [] was [] prevented from assisting the accused during a 

critical stage of the defense”4, then noted, “See, e.g., Geders v. United States, 425 U.S. 80, 

 
4 161 Md. App. at 266. 
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91, 96 S.Ct. 1330, 47 L.Ed.2d 592 (1976) (finding that sequestration order preventing 

defendant from consulting with attorney during overnight recess between his direct and 

cross-examination violated his constitutional right to counsel)”5. This Court affirmed the 

Court of Special Appeals’s judgment. See Walker v. State, 391 Md. 233 (2006). 

For these reasons, Clark, Wooten-Bey, Snyder, and Walker show that prejudice should 

be presumed and that the Court of Special Appeals’s judgment should be reversed. 

iii. Most federal circuit courts do not require retroactive proof of prejudice. 

As explained below, the United States Court of Appeals for the Second, Fifth, Seventh, 

and D.C. Circuits have directly upheld the Geders presumption of prejudice that applies to 

this case. 

In Jones v. Vacco, 126 F.3d 408 (2d Cir. 1997), the United States Court of Appeals for 

the Second Circuit held that an overnight ban on Charles Jones’s consultation with his 

attorney in an overnight recess taken during Mr. Jones’s cross-examination violated his 

right to counsel, and that prejudice from that ban was presumed. Id. at 416. The Second 

Circuit relied heavily on Geders, stating: “Inherent in Geders, and later made explicit, is 

the presumption that prejudice is so likely to follow a violation of a defendant's Sixth 

Amendment right to counsel that it constitutes a structural defect which defies harmless 

error analysis and requires automatic reversal”. Id. 

 
5 Id. n.12. 
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In United states v. Torres, 997 F.3d 624 (5th Cir. 2021), the United States Court of 

Appeals for the Fifth Circuit held that the trial court’s order prohibiting communication 

between Bryana Torres and his attorney during a thirteen-hour overnight recess in the 

middle of Mr. Torres’s direct examination violated his right to counsel. Id. at 627. Trial 

counsel’s failure to object to the order was irrelevant. Id. at 628. The Third Circuit found 

that no showing of prejudice was required, stating: “The Supreme Court has observed that 

there are ‘circumstances that are so likely to prejudice the accused that the cost of litigating 

their effect in a particular case is unjustified.’” Id. (quoting Cronic, 466 U.S. at 658). The 

Fifth Circuit also cited Perry v. Leeke for its holding that “a showing of prejudice is not an 

essential component of a violation of the rule announced in Geders”. Id. at 628 (quoting 

Perry, 488 U.S. at 278-279). 

In United States v. Santos, 201 F.3d 953 (7th Cir. 2000), the United States Court of 

Appeals for the Seventh Circuit held that the trial court’s directive to Miriam Santos’s 

attorney that Mr. Santos’s testimony “should not be subject of further inquiry with counsel” 

during the overnight recess between Mr. Santos’s direct and cross-examination violated 

Mr. Santos’s right to counsel. Id. at 965. It made this holding despite the trial court’s 

comment, “this does not mean you cannot converse with your client regarding strategy, the 

calling of witnesses, and so on”. Id. The Seventh Circuit also held: “Violations of the rule 

against flatly prohibiting consultation between a criminal defendant and his lawyer during 

a substantial recess are treated as complete denials of counsel (even though they are of 

limited duration), and so require reversal even if no prejudice is shown”. Id. at 966. 
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In Mudd v. United States, 798 F.2d 1509 (D.C. Cir. 1986), the United States Court of 

Appeals for the District of Columbia held that an order prohibiting communication between 

John Mudd and his attorney during a weekend recess between Mr. Mudd’s direct and cross-

examination violated his right to counsel without requiring any demonstration of prejudice. 

Id. Although Mudd was decided before Perry v. Leeke, 488 U.S. 272 (1989), it has been 

cited by other courts, specifically, the United States Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit 

in Sandoval-Mendoza, 472 F.3d 645 (9th Cir. 2006), discussed below. 

As explained below, the United States Court of Appeals for the Sixth, Eighth, and Ninth 

Circuits have indirectly upheld the Geders presumption of prejudice that applies to this 

case.  

In Mitchell v. Mason, 325 F.3d 732 (6th Cir. 2003), the United States Court of Appeals 

for the Sixth Circuit cited Cronic and Geders in support of its holding that Mr. Mason’s 

lack of consultation with his attorney during pretrial preparations was presumptively 

prejudicial. Id. at 744 & 748.    

In Moore v. Purkett, 275 F.3d 685 (8th Cir. 2001), the United States Court of Appeals 

for the Eighth Circuit held that the trial court’s order prohibiting Gary Moore, who had a 

limited ability to write, from talking quietly with his attorney during trial violated Mr. 

Moore’s right to counsel without necessitating a showing of prejudice. Id. at 689. 

In United States v. Sandoval-Mendoza, 472 F.3d 645 (9th Cir. 2006), the United States 

Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit held that the following order prohibiting Eduardo 

Sandoval-Mendoza and his attorney from discussing Mr. Sandoval-Mendoza’s testimony 
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during an overnight recess during the Government’s cross-examination of Mr. Sandoval-

Mendoza violated his right to counsel: “You can communicate. Just not concerning cross, 

his testimony, now that he's on cross-examination, unless that's concluded. That doesn't 

mean you can't talk with your client at all, just not concerning his testimony.” Id. at 650. 

Although the court reversed Mr. Sandoval-Mendoza’s conviction on other grounds, it held 

that the trial court’s order was erroneous and observed: “under the recent Supreme Court 

decision in United States v. Gonzales–Lopez [548 U.S. 140] (2006)], if an error is 

structural, prejudice is irrelevant”. Id. at 652. 

iv. Most other state courts do not require retroactive proof of prejudice. 

At least sixteen of approximately twenty-six other states clearly addressing the issue of 

actual prejudice in the context of a gag order similar to Geders have upheld its presumption 

of prejudice. It appears that the only states requiring an affirmative demonstration of 

prejudice for a Geders violation are: Alabama, Delaware, Florida, Georgia, Hawaii, 

Illinois, Missouri, Ohio, and Texas. 

Six states have directly upheld the Geders presumption of prejudice that applies to this 

case: Connecticut, New Jersey, Washington, D.C., Rhode Island, Michigan, and New 

York. See State v. Mebane, 204 Conn. 585, 597-598 (1987), cert. denied, 484 U.S. 1046 

(1988), State v. Fusco, 93 N.J. 578, 589-590 (1983), aff’d State v. Carroll, 256 N.J. Super. 

575, 592 (App. Div. 1992), Martin v. United States, 991 A.2d 791, 795-796 (D.C. 2010), 

Mastracchio v. Houle, 416 A.2d 116, 118-119 (R.I. 1980), People v. Igaz, 119 Mich. App. 
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172, 177 (1982), vacated on other grounds, 418 Mich. 893 (1983), and People v. Joseph 

84 N.Y.2d 995, 998 (1994). 

Ten states have indirectly upheld the Geders presumption of prejudice: New 

Hampshire, Pennsylvania, Minnesota, California, Idaho, Kentucky, Maine, Nebraska, 

Virginia, and Wisconsin. See Grote v. Powell, 132 N.H. 96, 101 (1990), Commonwealth v. 

Diaz, 226 A.3d 995, 1011 (Pa. 2020), Cooper v. State, 565 N.W.2d 27, 31 (Minn. 1997), 

People v. Hernandez, 53 Cal. 4th 1095, 1106 (2012), State v. Alvarado, 168 Idaho 189, 

199-200 (2021), Moore v. Com., 771 S.W.2d 34, 40 (Ky. 1988), abrogated on other 

grounds by McGuire v. Com., 885 S.W.2d 931 (Ky. 1994), Theriault v. State, 125 A.3d 

1163, 1169 ¶17 (Me. 2015), State v. Dalvin, 265 Neb. 386, 400 (2003), Walker v. 

Commonwealth, 258 Va. 54, 67 (1999), and State v. Erickson, 227 Wis. 2d 758, 770 (1999). 

Despite the generally favorable holdings of other states, their insight is irrelevant 

because Maryland precedent does not bow to their jurisprudence. See e.g., Coleman v. 

Soccer Ass'n of Columbia, 432 Md. 679, 691 (2013) (declining to abandon the principle of 

contributory negligence despite “reject[ion] in a majority of our sister states”), and Webb 

v. State, 144 Md. App. 729, 741 (2002) (requiring strict compliance, rather than the 

substantial compliance required by most states “to ensure a defendant's right to a fair trial 

and to protect the constitutional right to counsel”). “The rulings of courts of other states 

are classified not as binding, but as persuasive authority. If the reasoning which supports 

them fails to persuade, they are no authority at all.” Wagner v. State, 220 Md. App. 174, 
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194 (2014), aff'd, 445 Md. 404 (2015) (quoting Cates v. State, 21 Md. App. 363, 372 

(1974)). 

Only the Supreme Court’s precedent is truly worthy of this Court’s consideration.  “The 

Supreme Court of the United States . . . is the final arbiter of the meaning and application 

of the Constitution of the United States”6, and through Geders the Supreme Court has 

clarified that prejudice is presumed when a trial court prohibits a defendant from speaking 

with his attorney about his case during an overnight recess between that defendant’s direct 

and cross-examination. Geders has been well-settled precedent for over forty-six years. 

This Court, presented with facts nearly identical to Geders, should not disregard it now.  

B. Requiring proof of prejudice is impractical.  

 

Given that the law during Mr. Clark’s trial, and now, prohibited the type of gag order 

in his case, and did not require proving prejudice from it, no reasonable defendant in Mr. 

Clark’s position would have anticipated being required to prove prejudice years later at a 

post-conviction hearing. 

Nor would any reasonable defendant in Mr. Clark’s position believe that they had to 

object to a violation of their constitutional rights when the legal professional that they hired 

to do so remained silent.  

Furthermore, there was no reasonable way for Mr. Clark to honestly remember whether 

he wanted to speak with trial counsel during the overnight recess years later at the post-

 
6 R & T Const. Co. v. Judge, 323 Md. 514, 520 (1991) (emphasis added). 
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conviction hearing, let alone exactly what he would have said to trial counsel but for the 

trial court’s gag order.  

The speculation that the Court of Special Appeals expects from Mr. Clark about what 

he would have said to trial counsel over two years ago would not be expected or accepted 

from any other witness at a post-conviction hearing, even trial counsel. This Court and the 

Supreme Court have consistently prohibited such a “natural tendency to speculate”, and 

“adopted the rule of contemporary assessment of counsel's conduct . . .” McGhee v. State, 

284 A.3d 777, 790 (Oct. 24, 2022) (quoting Lockhart v. Fretwell, 506 U.S. 364, 371-372 

(1993)).  

The alternative expectation that Mr. Clark should have defied the court’s gag order by 

objecting to it and arguing with the trial judge, The Honorable Timothy McCrone, is so 

ridiculous that it is nearly comical. At best, it would have led to Mr. Clark being told to be 

silent by both his attorney and Judge McCrone. At worst, it would have led to Mr. Clark 

being held in contempt.  

Even trial counsel’s testimony confirms that it would have been foolish for Mr. Clark 

to object to the trial court’s gag order. During the post-conviction hearing, when the 

undersigned counsel asked trial counsel why he did not challenge Judge McCrone’s 

decision to discuss jury instructions in chambers rather than on the record, trial counsel 

responded, “[T]he judge is in charge and if the judge says we’re going to do this and that 

and this thing, you do it.” PC, at 22: 20-21 (emphasis added). Such fear of the court from 
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a trained advocate whose job it was to challenge the court’s unconstitutional orders leaves 

no realistic expectation that Mr. Clark, a layman criminal defendant, should have objected. 

Affirming the Court of Special Appeals’s judgment would endorse a new policy that 

criminal defendants ordered not to speak with their attorney(s) during an overnight recess 

between their direct and cross-examination must protect their constitutional right to counsel 

by:  

1) Defying the court’s order not to speak with their attorney about their case 

and risk being held in contempt7,  

 

2) Demanding a pen and paper in the courtroom immediately after the order 

is given to record what they would have said to their attorney if they were 

permitted to say it,  

 

3) Doing the same hours later after being transported from the courthouse to 

their prison cell,  

 

4) Somehow having what they wrote notarized or documented just in case, 

years later, a post-conviction court is willing to accept it8, or 

 

5) Remembering years later at a post-conviction hearing exactly what they 

would have said to their attorney, while hoping that they can both recite 

it consistently throughout rigorous cross-examination by skilled 

prosecutors and that it is accepted by the post-conviction court. 

 

 
7 This extends to the Court of Special Appeals’s reliance on trial counsel’s testimony that 

Mr. Clark did not try to speak with him about the case the next morning after the sheriff 

brought Mr. Clark into the courtroom, which implies that, in the Court of Special Appeals’s 

view, Mr. Clark was required to defy the trial court’s order before the overnight recess 

ended. See E. 85. 

 
8 Appearing in court with non-notarized or documented handwritten notes would lead to 

no more than ridicule from both the post-conviction court and the State. 
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Affirming the Court of Special Appeals’s judgment would welcome at least two other 

issues, the first being that post-conviction petitioners in Mr. Clark’s position would only 

need to make a bold claim about wanting to speak with their attorney during the overnight 

recess about their direct or cross-examination that day. Such  a claim could be about 

literally anything.9 If the court asked the petitioner to elaborate, he could assert his Fifth 

Amendment privilege against self-incrimination.  

Second, affirming the lower court’s judgment makes coaching the petitioner virtually 

impossible to prevent. Any post-conviction attorney with a client similarly situated to Mr. 

Clark could review the opinions in Geders and Clark v. State, 255 Md. App. 327 (2022), 

and observe that securing post-conviction relief from a Geders violation merely requires 

their client to testify about a desire to “discuss the events of the day's trial” with their trial 

attorney or to give their trial attorney “information made relevant by the day’s testimony”. 

Geders, 425 U.S. at 83 n. 1. That post-conviction attorney could very easily help their client 

“remember” and testify about such a desire to speak with their trial attorney.   

Overall, expecting Mr. Clark, a layman criminal defendant, to either assert his 

constitutional right to counsel just moments after enduring a direct examination and four 

 
9 See again Geders, 425 U.S. at 83 n. 1 (“It is common practice during such recesses for 

an accused and counsel to discuss the events of the day's trial. Such recesses are often times 

of intensive work, with tactical decisions to be made and strategies to be reviewed. The 

lawyer may need to obtain from his client information made relevant by the day's 

testimony, or he may need to pursue inquiry along lines not fully explored earlier.”). 
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days of trial or remember what he would have said to trial counsel during the overnight 

recess over two years later but for the trial court’s gag order is not just naive, it is asinine. 

The Court of Special Appeals’s judgment should be reversed. 

C. Showing prejudice violates the right to private communication with counsel.  

 “As the common law has long recognized, the right to confer with counsel would be 

hollow if those consulting counsel could not speak freely about their legal problems . .  . 

Limitations on the attorney-client privilege have therefore been drawn narrowly, to remove 

the privilege only where the privileged relationship is abused.” Mudd v. United States, 798 

F.2d 1509, 1513 (D.C. Cir. 1986). Thus, such gag orders violate the Sixth Amendment 

right to counsel, which “[p]rotects the right to effective assistance of counsel, and so, 

necessarily, the ‘privacy of communication with counsel.’ ”. United States v. Elbaz, 396 F. 

Supp. 3d 583, 591 (D. Md. 2019) (quoting United States v. Brugman, 655 F.2d 540, 546 

(4th Cir. 1981)).  

The United States Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia’s holding in Mudd v. 

United States, 798 F.2d 1509 (D.C. Cir. 1986), illustrates the importance of private 

communication between a criminal defendant and his attorney during an overnight recess. 

John Mudd was tried by a jury in the United States District Court for the District of 

Columbia on charges of, inter alia, receiving stolen property. Id. at 1510. On the third day 

of his trial, Mr. Mudd testified in his own defense. Id. After his direct examination ended, 

the court recessed for the weekend, but not before instructing Mr. Mudd’s attorney: “You 

are not to talk to Mr. Mudd about his testimony between now and the time he undergoes 
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his cross-examination. You can talk to him about other things, but not about his testimony.” 

Id. Mr. Mudd’s attorney objected but said that he would obey the instruction. Id. Mr. Mudd 

was ultimately convicted of convicted on all counts. Id. 

The United States Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia  reversed Mr. Mudd’s 

conviction and sentence, holding: “Based on both the policy concerns and our reading of 

Geders, we conclude that Mudd is not required to show actual prejudice to his right to 

consult with counsel; it is enough to show that the district court restricted that right.”. 

Mudd, 798 F.2d at 1514. The court rejected the State’s argument that the order against 

discussing Mr. Mudd’s testimony, while permitting discussion about “anything else”, 

distinguished Mr. Mudd’s case from Geders, where the order prohibited communication 

about “anything”. Id. at 1511. It held that there were, “obvious, legitimate reasons” beyond 

strategy and tactics warranting a consultation of Mr. Mudd by his attorney during the recess 

before cross-examination. Id. at 1512. “For example, Mudd's lawyer may have wanted to 

warn the defendant about certain questions that would raise self-incrimination concerns, or 

questions that could lead Mudd to mention excluded evidence. More generally”, the court 

continued, Mr. Mudd, “may have needed advice on demeanor or speaking style, a task 

made more difficult if specific testimony could not be mentioned.”. Id.  

The court also criticized the State’s division of consultation between a defendant and 

his attorney into different subjects after considering its chilling effect: 

While many of the benefits of counsel outlined by Geders are not related to 

testimony per se, an order such as the one in this case can have a chilling 

effect on cautious attorneys, who might avoid giving advice on non-
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testimonial matters for fear of violating the court's directive. Consultation 

between lawyers and clients cannot be neatly divided into discussions about 

“testimony” and those about “other” matters. 

Mudd, 798 F.2d at 1512. 

Next, the District of Columbia Circuit rejected the State’s argument that the gag order 

should be reviewed for harmless error, under which reversal would only have been required 

if there was a reasonable possibility that Mr. Mudd would have been acquitted but for the 

gag order. Mudd, 798 F.2d at 1513. The Court found that “a per se rule best vindicates the 

right to the effective assistance of counsel” because “requir[ing] a showing of prejudice 

would not only burden one of the fundamental rights enjoyed by the accused, but also 

would create an unacceptable risk of infringing on the attorney-client privilege”. Id. at 1513 

(citing Powell v. Alabama, 287 U.S. 45, 69 (1932), and Bailey v. Redman, 657 F.2d 21, 24 

(3d Cir.1981)). It explained:  

The only way that a defendant could show prejudice would be to present 

evidence of what he and counsel discussed, what they were prevented 

from discussing, and how the order altered the preparation of his 

defense. Presumably the government would then be free to question [the] 

defendant and counsel about the discussion that did take place, to see if  

[the] defendant nevertheless received adequate assistance. We cannot 

accept a rule whereby private discussions between counsel and client 

could be exposed in order to let the government show that the accused's 

sixth amendment rights were not violated. 

 

Id. at 1513. 

The Court also succinctly explained why presuming prejudice from the trial court’s 

order is “more consistent with Geders”:  
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While the majority opinion [in Geders] did not explicitly discuss the issue, 

the Court never inquired whether defendant Geders had been prejudiced by 

the judge's instructions. It necessarily rejected the holding of the Fifth 

Circuit, which had held that reversal was not justified unless there was 

a showing of “actual harm.” Given that the question was squarely 

presented, it is unreasonable to assume that the Supreme Court sub 

silentio subjected the violation to a harmless error test. See Geders, 425 

U.S. at 92, 96 S.Ct. at 1337 (“a defendant who claims that an order 

prohibiting communication with his lawyer impinges upon his Sixth 

Amendment right to counsel need not make a preliminary showing of 

prejudice”) (Marshall, J., concurring). 

Mudd, 798 F.2d at 1513 (emphasis added). 

Similarly, the District of Columbia Circuit held that this interpretation of Geders was 

consistent with the Supreme Court’s decision in Cronic, observing: “the [Cronic] Court 

cited Geders as an example of where it had “found constitutional error without any showing 

of prejudice . . .” Mudd, 798 F.2d at 1513 (quoting Cronic, 466 U.S. at 659 n. 25).  

Like the District of Columbia Circuit, this Court should protect the constitutional right 

to counsel, the constitutional right to private communication with counsel, and the 

constitutional presumption of prejudice when a gag order violates those rights by reversing 

the Court of Special Appeals’s judgment.  

II. PERMITTING TRIAL COUNSEL TO WAIVE MR. CLARK’S RIGHT TO 

SPEAK WITH HIM DURING AN OVERNIGHT RECESS VIOLATES MR. 

CLARK’S CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT TO COUNSEL. 

A defendant who is unaware of his right to counsel cannot waive it. “The test for 

‘waiver’ which the Legislature contemplated was clearly the ‘intelligent and knowing’ 

failure to raise, not the failure of counsel or an unknowing petitioner to raise an issue.” 

Curtis v. State, 284 Md. 132, 139 (1978). “To preserve the protection of the Bill of Rights 
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for hard-pressed defendants, [] every reasonable presumption against the waiver of 

fundamental rights [is indulged].” Glasser v. United States, 315 U.S. 60, 70 (1942). Accord 

Johnson v. Zerbst, 304 U.S. 458, 464 (1938).  

“[I]t strains common sense to conclude that a right to counsel, which inheres in the 

defendant himself, can be waived by ineffective counsel and must be resurrected, with 

Strickland-level proof of prejudice, by the ineffective counsel’s client.” Clark v. State, 255 

Md. App. 327, 359 (2022) (Nazarian, J., dissenting). “[W]ithout the knowledge or consent 

of the defendant”10, counsel cannot waive a defendant’s fundamental rights, including: 

“whether to plead guilty, waive a jury, testify in his or her own behalf, [] take an appeal”11, 

confronting witnesses12, being present at all critical stages of trial13, and “the effective 

assistance of counsel”14. Accordingly, counsel cannot waive a defendant’s right to 

 
10 Campbell v. Blodgett, 978 F.2d 1502, 1509 (9th Cir. 1992).   

 
11 Jones v. Barnes, 463 U.S. 745, 751 (1983). See also United States v. Curtis, 742 F.2d 

1070, 1076 (7th Cir. 1984) (noting that these rights “are deemed personal to a defendant, 

and he alone may decide whether these rights will be exercised or waived”), and State v. 

Johnson, 143 Md. App. 173, 195 (2002) (citing Treece v. State, 313 Md. 665 (1988)) (“In 

Maryland, of course, the law is clear that a defendant who is competent to stand trial holds 

the power to decide whether to enter an NCR plea.”).   

 
12 Williams v. State, 292 Md. 201, 219 (1981); Don v. Nix, 886 F.2d 203, 207 (8th Cir. 

1989). 

 
13 Campbell, 978 F.2d at 1509.   

 
14 State v. Flansburg, 345 Md. 694, 703 (1997) (emphasis added). Accord United States v. 

Cronic, 466 U.S. 648, 654 (1984) (“If no actual ‘Assistance’ ‘for’ the accused's ‘defence’ 

is provided, then the constitutional guarantee has been violated. To hold otherwise ‘could 

convert the appointment of counsel into a sham and nothing more than a formal compliance 
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communicate with him during an overnight recess because “the Sixth Amendment right to 

counsel belongs solely to the individual on trial and cannot be waived by his attorney”. (E. 

94).  

A. Mr. Clark did not knowingly and intelligently waive his right to counsel. 

“Presuming waiver from a silent record is impermissible. The record must show, or 

there must be an allegation and evidence which show, that an accused was offered counsel 

but intelligently and understandingly rejected the offer. Anything less is not waiver.” 

Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436, 475 (1966) (quoting Carnley v. Cochran, 369 U.S. 506, 

516 (1962)).  

Mr. Clark had no understating of his right to counsel during the overnight recess 

between his direct and cross-examination. Mr. Clark did not have any legal training and he 

unaware of “any of the legal principles behind post-trial motions, the Maryland Rules or 

any case law”. (E. 128).  Trial counsel, who did have legal training, did not inform Mr. 

Clark of his right to counsel during the recess. In fact, trial counsel was equally ignorant 

of that right. See E. 74. The trial court did not tell Mr. Clark, “I’m ordering you not to speak 

with your attorneys during the overnight recess, but you can also object to that order based 

on your constitutional right to counsel”. Nor did Mr. Clark make any statements 

acknowledging his right to counsel. Instead, when the court ordered Mr. Clark not to speak 

 

with the Constitution's requirement that an accused be given the assistance of counsel.’”); 

Perry v. Leeke, 488 U.S. 272, 280 (1989) (“Counsel, however, can also deprive a defendant 

of the right to effective assistance, simply by failing to render ‘adequate legal assistance.”). 
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with trial counsel during the overnight recess, Mr. Clark stated, “I understand, sir”, and 

followed the trial court’s instruction to “go back to [the] trial table”. (E. 24 ).  

Nor did Mr. Clark desire to waive his right to counsel. On the contrary, Mr. Clark sought 

guidance from trial counsel even after trial when seeking to file post-trial motions, though 

trial counsel, “ignored [him]”. (E. 128).  

Tomkins v. State of Missouri, 323 U.S. 485 (1945), supports the fact that Mr. Clark 

could not waive his constitutional right to counsel because he did not understand it. There, 

Ormayne Tomkins petitioned the Circuit Court of Pemiscot County, Missouri for a writ of 

habeas corpus following his first-degree murder conviction because he was not appointed 

counsel before pleading guilty and was unaware of his right to counsel. Id. at 486-487. The 

circuit court summarily denied the petition without requiring a response from the State. Id. 

at 486. The Supreme Court of Missouri affirmed. The United States Supreme Court 

reversed, reasoning: 

A deprivation of the constitutional right of counsel should not be readily 

inferred from vague allegations. But where the substance of the claim is clear, 

we should not insist upon more refined allegations than paupers, ignorant of 

their right of counsel and incapable of making their defense, could be 

expected to supply. 

Id. at 487. 

Even if Mr. Clark was a legal scholar at the time of the time of his trial, it would not 

demonstrate that he knowingly and intelligently waived his right to counsel. The Supreme 

Court rejected that theory in Glasser v. United States, 315 U.S. 60 (1942), where it reversed 

Daniel Glasser’s conviction and sentence for conspiracy to defraud the United States on 
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the grounds of ineffective assistance of counsel arising from a conflict of interests. The 

Court held that Mr. Glasser, though also an attorney, was not required to object to the trial 

court, the United States District Court for the Eastern Division of the Northern District of 

Illinois, appointing one of his co-defendant’s attorneys as his counsel in order to preserve 

his constitutional rights: 

Glasser never affirmatively waived the objection which he initially advanced 

when the trial court suggested the appointment of Stewart. We are told that 

since Glasser was an experienced attorney, he tacitly acquiesced in Stewart's 

appointment because he failed to renew vigorously his objection at the instant 

the appointment was made. The fact that Glasser is an attorney is, of course, 

immaterial to a consideration of his right to the protection of the Sixth 

Amendment. His professional experience may be a factor in determining 

whether he actually waived his right to the assistance of counsel. But it is by 

no means conclusive. 

Id. at 70 (emphasis added). Mr. Clark did not knowingly and intelligently waive his right 

to counsel. 

B. Trial counsel’s waiver of Mr. Clark’s right to counsel was unjustified.  

Trial counsel’s testimony at the post-conviction hearing that he “didn’t think there 

was anything for [he and Clark] to talk about that evening”15, and that he was not 

prevented from saying anything to Mr. Clark16, misses the point. The right to counsel 

did not belong to trial counsel. It belonged to Mr. Clark, who neither requested nor 

permitted the waiver of that right.    

 
15 (E. 73). 

 
16 (E. 84). 
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Nor would any potential trial strategy excuse trial counsel’s violation of Mr. Clark’s 

constitutional right to counsel. Trial counsel “is only permitted to make strategic 

choices faithful to the defendant's basic elections”. Don v. Nix, 886 F.2d 203, 207 (8th 

Cir. 1989) (emphasis added). See also Maryland Rule 19-301.2 (requiring attorneys to 

“abide by a client's decisions concerning the objectives of the representation and, when 

appropriate, [] consult with the client as to the means by which they are to be pursued.”). 

Again, Mr. Clark neither said nor implied that he did not want to speak with trial counsel 

during the overnight recess between his direct and cross-examination.  

The unreasonableness of trial counsel’s failure to object is confirmed by applying 

the factors provided by the Supreme Court “relevant to deciding whether particular 

strategic choices are reasonable [:] [1] the experience of the attorney, [2] the 

inconsistency of unpursued and pursued lines of defense, and [3] the potential for 

prejudice from taking an unpursued line of defense.” Strickland, 466 U.S. at 681.  First, 

no reasonable attorney with trial counsel’s years of experience would have remained 

silent while the court violated their client’s constitutional right to counsel through a gag 

order. Nor would any reasonable attorney with trial counsel’s years of experience fail 

to familiarize themselves with cases like Geders addressing their client’s fundamental 

constitutional rights. Second, it was inconsistent for trial counsel to present a defense 

for Mr. Clark yet remain silent when faced with a gag order preventing trial counsel 

from making that defense as strong as possible against pending cross-examination. That 

critical objective could have been achieved by simply objecting to the gag order and 
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informing the trial court that speaking with Mr. Clark about his case was necessary to 

address his potential concerns about cross-examination. Third, there was no potential 

for Mr. Clark’s defense being harmed by trial counsel objecting to the trial court’s order. 

At worst, the trial court would have overruled the objection. Accordingly, each of the 

three factors demonstrate that counsel did not have a reasonable excuse for not 

objecting to the trial court’s gag order. 

Since trial counsel had no authority to waive Mr. Clark’s constitutional right to 

counsel, which was neither knowingly nor intelligently waived by Mr. Clark, that 

waiver is invalid and the Court of Special Appeals’s judgment should be reversed. 

III. THE POST-CONVICTION COURT CORRECTLY HELD THAT TRIAL 

COUNSEL’S FAILURE TO PRESERVE THE VIOLATION OF MR. 

CLARK’S RIGHT TO COUNSEL FOR APPEAL WAS UNDULY 

PREJUDICIAL. 

“A finding that trial counsel was deficient for failing to preserve an issue for appellate 

review presupposes 1) that competent appellate counsel would have chosen to raise such 

an issue, had it been preserved, and 2) that the issue had a reasonable probability of being 

successful on appeal.” State v. Gross, 134 Md. App. 528, 585 (2000). 

Applying this test shows that trial counsel’s performance was deficient. Competent 

appellate counsel would have raised, and did raise, the Geders violation on appeal as plain 

error, though the Court of Special Appeals refused to entertain it because trial counsel did 

not object. See Clark v. State, No. 486,  Sept. Term, 2019 (Md. Ct. Spec.  App. June 29, 2020), 

at 8. The reasonable probability of the issue being successful on appeal has been confirmed 
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by both the Supreme Court in Geders v. United States, 425 U.S. 80 (1976), and this Court 

in Wooten-Bey v. State, 318 Md. 301 (1990). Trial counsel’s failure to preserve the issue 

was deficient performance. 

The Court of Special Appeals’s reliance on Newton v. State, 455 Md. 341 (2017), is 

misplaced. Newton does not permit a presumption that the post-conviction court in this 

case was making the same presumptions made by Donta Newton. Mr. Newton argued that 

that his attorney’s failure to object to the presence of an alternate juror during jury 

deliberations demonstrated prejudice because “he would have been granted a new trial on 

appeal” if the objection were made. Id. at 361. The Court of Special Appeals reversed the 

Circuit Court for Baltimore County’s order granting Mr. Newton post-conviction relief. 

The Court of Appeals affirmed, holding that the post-conviction court erred by making 

three assumptions. First, that trial court would have overruled any objection by Mr. 

Newton’s attorney. Id. Second, that the issue would have been presented by appellate 

counsel on appeal. Id. Third, that it would have prevailed on appeal. See id. (“In sum, even 

if his attorney's performance was deficient, Newton was not prejudiced by it because we 

cannot say that he would have prevailed on his appeal but for her failure to raise the 

alternate juror issue.”). 

Here, the post-conviction court did not make the above assumptions. It found prejudice 

because Mr. Clark “was not able to raise the issue on appeal due to trial counsel’s failure 

to object to the erroneous instruction”. (E. 94). That finding must be considered in its proper 

context: after discussing the fact that the Court of Special Appeals was presented with and 
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declined to rule on the Geders issue on direct appeal. See E. 93 (quoting Clark v. State, No. 

486, Sept. Term, 2019 (Md. Ct. Spec. App. June 29, 2020), at 8). 

There are at least three other reasons why the Court of Special Appeals’s reliance on 

Newton is misplaced. First, Mr. Newton’s contention that the alternate juror should have 

been stricken was not presented on appeal. In fact, Mr. Newton tried (and failed) to post-

convict his appellate attorney for not presenting that issue. Conversely, Mr. Clark appealed 

the trial court’s order under the plain error standard of review, albeit unsuccessfully. 

Second, the performance of Mr. Newton’s attorney was not deficient for failing to object. 

Id. at 366. Rather, his attorney “made a valid strategic decision when he agreed to let the 

alternate [juror] sit in on deliberations”. Id. at 350. Here, trial counsel did not have a valid 

strategic decision for not objecting. See infra. Third, the failure of Mr. Newton’s attorney 

to object did not justify presuming prejudice because, unlike here, there was no underlying 

actual denial of counsel. Id. at 361. Trial counsel’s performance was deficient, and the 

Court of Special Appeals’s judgment should be reversed. 

IV. TRIAL COUNSEL’S FAILURE TO OBJECT TO THE VIOLATION OF MR. 

CLARK’S RIGHT TO COUNSEL DUE TO MERE IGNORANCE OF THE 

LAW WAS DEFICIENT PERFORMANCE. 

“To show a deficiency, appellant must (1) demonstrate that counsel's acts or omissions, 

given the circumstances, ‘fell below an objective standard of reasonableness considering 

prevailing professional norms’, and (2) overcome the presumption that the challenged 

conduct ‘be considered sound trial strategy.’ ”Gross, 371 Md. at 349 (quoting Wiggins v. 

State, 352 Md. 580, 602-603 (1999)).  
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A. Trial counsel’s failure to object violated prevailing professional norms. 

Prevailing professional norms are reflected, in part, by the American Bar Association’s 

Criminal Justice Standards and the Maryland Attorneys’ Rules of Professional Conduct17, 

each providing non-exhaustive lists of duties that attorneys owe to their clients, including: 

diligence, competence, and communication, discussed below.  

i. Trial counsel violated the duty of competence that he owed Mr. Clark. 

“Competent representation requires the legal knowledge, skill, thoroughness and 

preparation reasonably necessary for the representation.” Md. Rule 19-301.3. See also 

Abramson v. Wildman, 184 Md. App. 189, 203, & 204 n. 21 (2009) (discussing the 

“implied contractual duty to exercise ordinary skill and knowledge in the rendition of 

professional services”), and State v. Flansburg, 345 Md. 694, 703 (1997) (“Regardless of 

the source, the right to counsel means the right to the effective assistance of counsel.”) 

(emphasis added). 

Trial counsel violated his duty of competence through both his ignorance of Mr. Clark’s 

right to confer with him during the overnight recess, and by being unprepared to object to 

the trial court’s violation of that right. Trial counsel’s ignorance is confirmed by his 

testimony that he: “should have objected” to the gag order, was unaware of Geders, and 

understood that Mr. Clark “always has a right to confer with [him]”. (E. 86 & 74). Trial 

counsel violated the duty of competence that he owed Mr. Clark. 

 
17 Strickland, 466 U.S. at 688. 
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ii. Trial counsel violated the duty of diligence that he owed Mr. Clark. 

The duty of diligence requires that attorneys, “[a]ct with commitment and dedication to 

the interests of the client and with zeal in advocacy upon the client's behalf.” Maryland 

Rule 19-301.3[1]. See also Maryland Rule 19-300.1[9] (Attorneys have an “obligation 

zealously to protect and pursue a client's legitimate interests, within the bounds of the law, 

while maintaining a professional, courteous and civil attitude toward all persons involved 

in the legal system”.).  

Consistent with the duty of diligence, this Court and the Supreme Court have noted: 

“Lawyers, by training and disposition, are advocates and bound by professional duty to 

present all available evidence and arguments in support of their clients' positions and to 

contest with vigor all adverse evidence and views.” Yaw Poku Podieh v. State, 470 Md. 

272, 304 (2020) (quoting Gagnon v. Scarpelli, 411 U.S. 778, 787 (1973)). Accord 

Maryland Rule 19-300.1 cmt. 5 (“While it is an attorney's duty, when necessary, to 

challenge the rectitude of official action, it is also an attorney's duty to uphold legal 

process.”). 

Trial counsel violated this duty through both his failure to object to the trial court’s gag 

order and his expectation for Mr. Clark to approach him with any concerns following direct 

examination. See E. 86 (“When I read it now, reading it at the post-conviction, I say wow, 

I should have objected but was I going to meet with him or say anything that night? The 

answer is no. And he didn’t ask me”) (emphasis added). Trial counsel violated the duty of 

diligence that he owed Mr. Clark. 
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iii. Trial counsel violated the duty of communication that he owed Mr. Clark. 

The duty of communication requires, in part, that attorneys, “promptly comply with 

reasonable requests for information”. Maryland Rule 19-301.4. Trial counsel violated this 

duty by ensuring that he did not have to honor it. There is no better way to ignore one’s 

client than having the court order it. By not objecting to the gag order, trial counsel kept 

Mr. Clark from even making any “reasonable requests for information” from him. Id. Trial 

counsel was little more than a “warm body with a bar card.” State v. Anderson, 19 Wash. 

App. 2d 556, 562  (2021), review denied, 199 Wash. 2d 1004 (2022). Trial counsel violated 

the duty of communication that he owed Mr. Clark. 

Given that trial counsel failed to uphold his duties of competence, diligence and 

communication, he violated prevailing professional norms and his performance was 

deficient. 

B. Trial counsel’s failure to object was not a reasonable trial strategy. 

Ignorance of the law is never a reasonable trial strategy. Coleman v. State, 434 Md. 

320, 340-341 (2013) (“We do not see how [] counsel's failure to object because of his 

ignorance of the law could possibly be seen as sound trial strategy or a strategic choice.”). 

Again, trial counsel admitted that he was not familiar with Geders and the he “should have 

objected” to the gag order. (E. 86 & 74). Trial counsel’s failure to object was no more than 

ignorance of the law, and Mr. Clark is entitled to no less than a new trial. 
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CONCLUSION 

For the foregoing reasons, Mr. Clark respectfully requests that this Court reverse the 

Court of Special Appeals’ judgment. 
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In February 2019, Damien Gary Clark, appellee, was tried by a jury in the Circuit 

Court for Howard County on charges of second-degree murder, attempted second-degree 

murder, and several counts of assault. Appellee testified on his own behalf, and at the 

conclusion of his direct testimony, the court instructed him not to speak with anyone, 

including his attorney, during the overnight recess.  Defense counsel did not object to the 

court’s instruction.  The jury convicted appellee of voluntary manslaughter, attempted 

second-degree murder, and two counts of second-degree assault.  The court sentenced 

appellee to 50 years’ incarceration.  On appeal to this Court, we affirmed appellee’s 

convictions in an unreported opinion.  See Clark v. State, No. 486, Sept. Term, 2019 (filed 

June 29, 2020). 

Appellee then sought post-conviction relief.  After a hearing, the post-conviction 

court granted appellee a new trial, finding that he received ineffective assistance of counsel 

due to counsel’s failure to object to the trial court’s no-communication instruction.  The 

State filed an application for leave to appeal, which we granted.1 

The State appeals and presents three questions for this Court’s review, which we 

have consolidated into the following question:  

Did the circuit court err in granting appellee a new trial based on a finding 

that he received ineffective assistance of counsel? 

 

For the reasons set forth below, we shall reverse the judgment of the circuit court 

and remand for further proceedings consistent with this opinion.  

 
1 Appellee filed a cross-application for leave to appeal, which we denied.   
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FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND 

For purposes of this appeal, we need not discuss the underlying crimes in detail.  We 

do note, however, that the crimes were serious.  On December 25, 2017, appellee stabbed 

two men, killing one of them.   

Appellee testified on his own behalf on the fourth day of trial.  After he completed 

his direct testimony, with the State’s cross-examination scheduled to begin the next day, 

the court instructed appellee, as follows:  

[THE COURT]: You can’t talk to anybody about the case this evening even 

[trial counsel] and [the paralegal].  Okay? 

 

[MR. CLARK]: Okay. 

 

[THE COURT]: You can’t talk to anybody.  It sounds counter intuitive. 

 

[MR. CLARK]: Yes. 

 

[THE COURT]: You can’t talk to your own attorney about the case. 

 

[MR. CLARK]: I understand, sir. 

 

Defense counsel did not object to the court’s instruction. 

On appeal from his convictions, appellee argued, among other things, that the trial 

court erred in instructing him that he could not speak with his attorney during the overnight 

recess.  Clark, slip op. at 11–12.  He asserted that this order denied him his Sixth 

Amendment right to counsel “after a critical day of testimony.”  Id. at 13.  The State argued 

that appellee had failed to preserve this issue for appeal because he failed to object to the 

court’s instruction, and instead, he acquiesced to it.  Id.   
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In our unreported opinion, we concluded that the argument was not preserved for 

review.  Id.  We noted that unpreserved claims of error generally are best addressed through 

an ineffective assistance of counsel claim at post-conviction proceedings.  Id. at 14.  We 

affirmed appellee’s convictions.  Id. at 33.   

Appellee subsequently filed a petition for post-conviction relief alleging, among 

other things, that he received ineffective assistance of counsel due to trial counsel’s failure 

to object to the trial court’s instruction that he not speak to counsel during the overnight 

recess between his direct and cross-examination.  He argued that counsel’s failure to object 

was not a strategical error, but rather, it was due to ignorance of the law.  Appellee also 

argued that trial counsel’s failure to object prejudiced him because “the court impinged 

upon his constitutional right to counsel, which [trial counsel] permitted by failing to 

object.”  

On July 29, 2021, the court held a hearing.  Trial counsel testified that, at the time 

of appellee’s trial in 2019, he had been practicing criminal law for more than 20 years, and 

he had worked on 30–40 homicide cases.  Counsel acknowledged, however, that at the time 

of trial, he was not specifically aware of Geders v. United States, 425 U.S. 80, 88–89 

(1976), a case in which the United States Supreme Court held that an order restricting an 

accused from consulting with counsel “about anything” during a lengthy overnight recess 

was improper.  When asked why he did not object to the court’s instruction not to 

communicate with counsel after appellee’s direct testimony, counsel stated that he felt no 

need to object because there was nothing to discuss with appellee:  
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At the time, I didn’t think there was anything for us to talk about that evening.  

We had talked that morning, I guess when I delivered the suit to him.  We 

talked during the trial, right before lunch.  I believe, you know, at every 

break.  It’s not like I can leave here and call him.  You know, I can’t call into 

[the jail] at that time, they have it now, because of all the COVID.  So, the 

issue would have been, did I want to go back downstairs in the sheriff’s 

lockup and see him that day?  And before we went down—at the end of each 

day, I would always ask him if he had any questions or anything like that.  

So, the answer is that I just didn’t have anything to go over with him because 

I thought he was doing good on the witness stand.  

 

On cross-examination, counsel stated that he had prepared appellee for his 

testimony, stating that they had practiced approximately eight to ten hours.  At the end of 

appellee’s testimony, counsel had no concerns that needed to be addressed.  He stated:  

We talked all day. We talked in the morning, every break, lunch break or 

break to do this and that and sit at the trial table, go back and forth.  After 

lunch before we sat down, we talked.  O[r] if we wanted to go down, we’d 

go down and talk to him.  At the end of the incident, you know, at the end of 

that day, I think he was sitting up here [on the witness stand] but I didn’t have 

anything to ask him, and he didn’t say, hey, I want to talk to you.  

 

Counsel acknowledged that he should have objected to the court’s instruction, but 

he reiterated that he did not have anything to say to appellee that he was prevented from 

saying to him, and appellee did not ask to speak to him.  The following exchange then 

occurred:  

[THE STATE]: Had [appellee] said, I want to speak to my attorney, would 

you have advocated on his behalf to – 

 

[TRIAL COUNSEL]: Absolutely.  

 

[THE STATE]: And just so I have–just so this record is clear in terms of 

what was happening at that point in time in the trial, it was the end of a day 

of testimony, right?  It was the end of the day.  The attorneys were going 

home.  [Appellee] was being returned to the Detention Center.  And everyone 

was due to return first thing in the morning and start right away.  Is that fair? 
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[TRIAL COUNSEL]: Yes.  

 

[THE STATE]: And so, it wasn’t a situation where we’re taking a two-hour 

break for everyone to work on the case, right?  

 

[TRIAL COUNSEL]: That’s correct.  

 

[THE STATE]: It was the end of the day.  The day’s work was over. 

 

[TRIAL COUNSEL]: That’s correct.  

 

[THE STATE]: We all know at night attorneys might look over notes, et 

cetera, but he wasn’t coming to your office that night.  Is that fair? 

 

[TRIAL COUNSEL]: No. 

 

[THE STATE]: He was at the Detention Center. 

 

[TRIAL COUNSEL]: And we can’t call him. 

 

[THE STATE]: All right.  You couldn’t even call him.  And he went 

immediately back on the stand the next day.  Is that your recollection? 

 

[TRIAL COUNSEL]: Yes.  

 

*   *   * 

 

[THE STATE]: Okay.  And do you recall the next morning before he testified 

whether he expressed any indication to you or [the paralegal] in your 

presence that he had questions of you or wanted to talk to you? 

 

[TRIAL COUNSEL]: No.  We had come back in the morning.  The sheriff 

brought him out to sit at the table. . . . [The paralegal] who was assisting, and 

myself were sitting at the table, you know, are you okay?  You know . . . 

we’re going to do this.  We’re [going to] do that or whatever.  We talked at 

the trial table with him. 

 

[THE STATE]: All right. So, you actually communicated with him, but you 

just didn’t talk about the substance – 

 

[TRIAL COUNSEL]: Yes. 

Appx. 6



 

6 

 

 

[THE STATE]: – of his testimony?  

 

[TRIAL COUNSEL]: Yes.  Yeah.  

 

*   *   * 

 

[TRIAL COUNSEL]: When I read [the order] now, reading it at the post-

conviction, I say wow, I should have objected but was I going to meet with 

him or say anything that night?  The answer is no.  And he didn’t ask me. 

 

Trial counsel’s paralegal and appellee also testified at the post-conviction hearing.  

Neither one, however, testified regarding the trial court’s instruction to appellee not to talk 

with anyone after his direct examination.   

On September 28, 2021, the post-conviction court granted appellee’s request for 

post-conviction relief.  It found that the trial court’s instruction was inconsistent with the 

holding in Geders, 425 U.S. at 88–89.  The court summarized trial counsel’s testimony 

during the post-conviction hearing, as follows:  

Trial counsel conceded in testimony that he “probably should have objected” 

to the trial court’s instruction.  Trial counsel testified that he had spoken to 

[appellee] every morning before court started during the trial, and during 

breaks each day.  Trial counsel and [the paralegal] both testified that they had 

spent hours with [appellee] preparing for trial.  Trial counsel testified that he 

and [the paralegal] had practiced for hours questioning [appellee] so that he 

would be prepared for his direct and cross examination.  Trial counsel 

indicated that he felt [appellee] had done well with his direct examination, 

and that he did not have anything he needed to talk to [appellee] about 

overnight, and would have objected had he needed to speak to [appellee], or 

if [appellee] had indicated a need to speak to him.  In fact, trial counsel 

testified that the morning of the fifth day of trial he and [the paralegal] had 

asked [appellee] if he was alright and if he needed anything.  [Appellee] did 

not indicate that he needed to speak to trial counsel at that time. 
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After discussing the evidence, the post-conviction court found that counsel’s 

performance was deficient, stating that there was no evidence of “a legitimate strategic or 

tactical reason for letting the instruction go.”  Although counsel did not believe that there 

was a need to talk with appellee that evening, the right to assistance of counsel belonged 

to appellee, not to trial counsel, and appellee may have wanted to consult with counsel, but 

he was not able to due to the court’s instruction.   

The post-conviction court also found that trial counsel’s failure to object to the 

instruction prejudiced appellee “not only because he was deprived of his Sixth Amendment 

right to counsel during the overnight recess, but also because he was not able to raise the 

issue on appeal due to trial counsel’s failure to object to the erroneous instruction.”  The 

post-conviction court held that Mr. Clark was entitled to a new trial on this ground.2  The 

court stayed its ruling pending resolution on appeal.  

On December 15, 2021, we granted the State’s application for leave to appeal and 

denied appellee’s cross-application. 

DISCUSSION 

The State contends that the circuit court erred in finding that appellee received 

ineffective assistance of counsel due to trial counsel’s failure to object to the court’s 

instruction that appellee not talk with anyone during the overnight recess between his direct 

 
2 The court also stated that trial counsel’s motion for a new trial on different grounds 

was “untimely and inadequate,” which constituted deficient performance.  The court stated 

that, if not for its decision regarding the Geders issue, it “would recommend” that appellee 

be permitted to make a belated motion for a new trial.  The State advised in its brief that it 

“has not challenged” the court’s ruling in this regard.   
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and cross-examination.  The State acknowledges, as it must, that a court’s directive to an 

accused not to communicate with counsel during an overnight recess is improper pursuant 

to Geders, 425 U.S. at 88–89.  It argues, however, that the court failed to properly assess 

the Geders claim “through Strickland’s ineffective-assistance lens.”3  

We begin our analysis by discussing the constitutional right implicated in this case.  

The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution provides that an accused 

individual “have the Assistance of Counsel for his defense.”  U.S. Const. amend. VI.  In 

1976, in Geders, 425 U.S. at 81–82, the Supreme Court addressed the constitutionality of 

a court’s instruction to the defendant not to discuss the case with anyone, including his 

attorney, during an overnight recess.  Defense counsel objected to the instruction, stating 

that he “always ha[s] the right to talk to [his] client.”  Id. at 83 n.1.  Counsel stated that he 

knew that he was not permitted to coach his client about what to say on cross-examination, 

but he wanted to discuss strategic matters with his client, including which witness to call 

next.  Id. at 83 n.1.  The trial court overruled the objection, and counsel stated that he and 

his client would obey the court’s ruling and not communicate.  Id.    

The Supreme Court held that the trial court’s instruction was unconstitutional, but 

it did so on narrow grounds.  The Court specified its holding as follows:  

The challenged order prevented petitioner from consulting his attorney 

during a 17-hour overnight recess, when an accused would normally confer 

with counsel.  We do not reach, and we do not deal with limitations imposed 

in other circumstances.  We hold that an order preventing petitioner from 

consulting his counsel “about anything” during a 17-hour overnight recess 

 
3 Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). 
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between his direct- and cross-examination impinged upon his right to the 

assistance of counsel guaranteed by the Sixth Amendment.   

 

Id. at 91. 

The Supreme Court subsequently addressed an instruction to the defendant not to 

speak with his attorney during a 15-minute recess between direct and cross-examination.  

Perry v. Leeke, 488 U.S. 272 (1989).  In holding that this instruction did not violate Perry’s 

Sixth Amendment right to counsel, the Court noted that, although a defendant has a right 

to consult his attorney throughout the trial, the testifying defendant, when he becomes a 

witness, does not have a right to “have the testimony interrupted in order to give him the 

benefit of counsel’s advice.”  Id. at 281.  The break in Perry, a 15-minute recess at the end 

of direct examination, presented a “virtual certainty that any conversation between the 

witness and the lawyer would relate to the ongoing testimony.”  Id. at 283–84.  The break 

in Geders, on the other hand, was “of a different character” because, during an overnight 

recess, an attorney and a client often discuss matters that go beyond the defendant’s 

testimony, such as the availability of other witnesses, trial tactics, or even negotiating a 

plea bargain, and as such, the defendant should have unrestricted access to his or her 

attorney.  Id. at 284.  The Court stated that the distinction between the 15-minute recess in 

Perry and the overnight recess in Geders was “a thin one,” but it was “a line of 

constitutional dimension.”  Id. at 280.  The Court, therefore, held that the trial court’s 

instruction did not violate the petitioner’s right to counsel.  Id. at 280.   

Perry addressed the issue in the context of a federal writ of habeas corpus, and in 

addition to addressing whether Perry was denied his constitutional right to the assistance 

Appx. 10



 

10 

 

of counsel, the Court addressed whether, to obtain relief, Perry had to show prejudice.  Id. 

at 278-80.  The Court concluded that he did not, stating that the actual denial of the 

assistance of counsel “is not subject to the kind of prejudice analysis that is appropriate in 

determining whether the quality of a lawyer’s performance itself has been constitutionally 

ineffective.”  Id. at 280.  The Court stated “that a showing of prejudice is not an essential 

component of a violation of the rule announced in Geders.”  Id. at 278–79.   

Given this caselaw, the State acknowledges that the court’s instruction to appellee 

not to speak to counsel during the overnight recess was improper pursuant to Geders.  It 

argues, however, that both Geders and Perry arose in a different posture from this case.  In 

both those cases, counsel objected to the instruction, whereas in this case, defense counsel 

did not object to the instruction.  Thus, neither of those cases involved a claim similar to 

that raised here, i.e., that counsel rendered ineffective assistance of counsel in failing to 

object to the instruction.   

There is a different analysis for cases arising on direct appeal and those arising from 

a petition for post-conviction relief.  In Weaver v. Massachusetts, 137 S. Ct. 1899, 1911–

12 (2017), the Supreme Court explained that a violation of the right to a public trial requires 

automatic reversal on direct appeal, but when it is raised as part of an ineffective assistance 

of counsel claim, it is still analyzed under the Strickland framework.  The Court of Appeals 

has explained the Supreme Court’s analysis, as follows:  

Citing finality interests, the Court noted that if a new trial is granted on direct 

appeal, “there may be a reasonable chance that not too much time will have 

elapsed for witness memories still to be accurate and physical evidence not 

to be lost.”  [Weaver, 137 S. Ct. at 1912].  In addition, reviewing courts are 

Appx. 11



 

11 

 

in a better position to instruct trial courts on facts and legal principles to 

consider on remand.  Id.  Postconviction courts, by contrast, assess 

ineffective-assistance-of-counsel claims through the Strickland lens and do 

not address the merits of particular trial court errors.  The Weaver Court 

reasoned that these differences justify imposing a higher standard for 

granting a new trial when a defendant raises a structural error on 

postconviction, rather than on direct appeal.  Id.; see also [Strickland v. 

Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 693–94 (1984)] (“The [Strickland] standard [] 

reflects the profound importance of finality in criminal proceedings.”). 

 

Newton v. State, 455 Md. 341, 356–57 (2017), cert. denied, 138 S. Ct. 665 (2018).  Accord 

Ramirez v. State, 464 Md. 532, 565–66 (2019), cert. denied, 140 S. Ct. 1134 (2020).   

Thus, because this case is before us in the posture of review of a post-conviction 

claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, we do not address the merits of the trial court 

error.  Rather, we address the claim through the lens of the test set forth in Strickland v. 

Washington.  Under that test, a defendant seeking to prove ineffective assistance of counsel 

must prove two things: (1) “that his or her counsel performed deficiently,” and (2) “that he 

or she has suffered prejudice because of the deficient performance.”  State v. Syed, 463 

Md. 60, 75, cert. denied, 140 S. Ct. 562 (2019).  Both prongs of the test must be shown to 

establish ineffective assistance of counsel.  In re Parris W., 363 Md. 717, 725 (2001).   

When we are addressing an ineffective assistance of counsel claim, we are not 

required “to address both components of the inquiry if the defendant makes an insufficient 

showing of one.”  Strickland, 466 U.S. at 697.  Here, we will not address the performance 

prong because, as explained below, we conclude that appellee failed to prove that he was 

prejudiced by counsel’s failure to object to the court’s instruction.   
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To establish prejudice, a defendant generally must show: (1) that there is “‘a 

reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s unprofessional errors, the result of the 

proceeding would have been different; or (2) that the result of the proceeding was 

fundamentally unfair or unreliable.’”  Syed, 463 Md. at 86 (quoting Newton, 455 Md. at 

355).  In some contexts, however, prejudice is presumed.  Strickland, 466 U.S. at 692.  A 

presumption of prejudice applies in certain Sixth Amendment contexts, including 

situations where: “(1) the petitioner was actually denied the assistance of counsel; (2) the 

petitioner was constructively denied the assistance of counsel; or (3) the petitioner’s 

counsel had an actual conflict of interest.”  Ramirez v. State, 464 Md. at 573.4  See also 

Perry, 488 U.S. at 278–79 (Actual denial of counsel is not subject to the kind of prejudice 

analysis that is appropriate in determining whether the quality of a lawyer’s performance 

itself has been constitutionally ineffective.); Wooten-Bey v. State, 318 Md. 301, 306 (1990) 

(discussing Perry, but ultimately finding no Geders violation).   

Appellee contends, and the dissent agrees, that the court’s instruction, by itself, 

constituted a deprivation of his Sixth Amendment right to the assistance of counsel.  Based 

on the conclusion that appellee was deprived of his right to counsel, they conclude that 

appellee is entitled to a presumption of prejudice.  We disagree with the premise that there 

 
4 “Actual denial of the assistance of counsel occurs where ‘counsel was either totally 

absent, or prevented from assisting the [petitioner] during a critical stage of the 

proceeding.’”  Ramirez v. State, 464 Md. 532, 574 (2019), cert. denied, 140 S. Ct. 1134 

(2020) (quoting United States v. Cronic, 466 U.S. 648, 659 n.25 (1984)).  “[C]onstructive 

denial of the assistance of counsel occurs where ‘counsel entirely fails to subject the 

prosecution’s case to meaningful adversarial testing[.]’”  Id. (quoting Cronic, 466 U.S. at 

659).   
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was a showing of an actual deprivation of the right to counsel, and therefore, with the 

conclusion that a presumption of prejudice is warranted. 

We agree with the State that an instruction not to communicate does not, by itself, 

establish a Sixth Amendment violation.  Rather, to show a deprivation of the right to 

counsel in this context, there must be a showing that the instruction actually prevented the 

defendant and defense counsel from communicating.   

In both Geders and Perry, defense counsel objected to the court’s no-

communication instruction.  See Geders, 425 U.S. at 83 n.1 (Defense attorney argued that 

he had the right to confer with his client regarding “numerous strategic things that an 

attorney must confer with his client about.”); Perry, 488 U.S. at 274–75 (Defense attorney 

moved for a mistrial after court’s order).  An objection to the instruction indicates that, 

“absent the court’s instruction, Defendant would have met with his counsel.”  Wallace v. 

State, 851 So.2d 216, 220 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App.) (quoting State v. Baldridge, 857 S.W.2d 

243, 252 (Mo. Ct. App. 1993)), review denied, 860 So. 2d 980 (Fla. 2003), cert. denied, 

540 U.S. 1187 (2004).   

Here, by contrast, there was no objection to the instruction, nor was there any 

showing that the court’s instruction deprived appellee of the right to assistance of counsel.  

During the post-conviction proceedings, the issue was addressed, and trial counsel testified 

that he did not object to the instruction because he did not “think there was anything for 

[them] to talk about that evening.”  Appellee also testified during the post-conviction 
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proceedings, but he did not testify that he would have talked to counsel absent the court’s 

instruction.    

Other courts have held that, in the situation where a court instructs the defendant 

not to communicate with his attorney during a recess in the defendant’s testimony, a claim 

that the court deprived the defendant of the right to counsel fails in the absence of an 

objection to the court’s instruction, or other evidence that the defendant would have met 

with counsel but for the instruction.  For example, in United States v. Nelson, 884 F.3d 

1103, 1105 (11th Cir.), cert. denied, 139 S. Ct. 394 (2018), the court granted defense 

counsel’s request, just before an overnight recess during the testimony of defendant 

Skillern, that counsel could speak to the defendant “about matters other than his 

testimony.”  On appeal, Skillern argued that the court deprived him of the assistance of 

counsel in violation of the Sixth Amendment, asserting that the court should have 

responded to counsel’s request by stating, sua sponte, that he could discuss any subject 

with his attorney during the overnight break, including his testimony.  Id. at 1106.  The 

United States Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit rejected that argument.  Id. at 1110.  

It noted that the case presented several unsettled issues, including whether, because 

Skillern’s lawyer asked for the instruction, the invited error doctrine prevented his 

challenge to the instruction.  Id. at 1107–08.  The court declined to address that issue, 

however, because there was no showing that “Skillern was [] actually deprived of his Sixth 

Amendment right to counsel.”  Id. at 1109.  The court explained that “a condition precedent 

to a Geders-like Sixth Amendment claim is a demonstration, from the trial record, that 
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there was an actual ‘deprivation’ of counsel – i.e., a showing that the defendant and his 

lawyer desired to confer but were precluded from doing so by the district court.”  Id. at 

1109.  Because “the record [was] entirely devoid of any indication – in any form – that 

Skillern or his attorney planned or wanted to confer about his testimony during the recess,” 

Skillern had not “shown that he was actually deprived of his Sixth Amendment right to 

counsel,” and he was not entitled to reversal of his convictions.  Id. at 1110.   

In Wallace v. State, 851 So.2d 216, 220 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App.), review denied, 860 

So.2d 980 (Fla. 2003), cert. denied, 540 U.S. 1187 (2004), Wallace filed a petition for post-

conviction relief, alleging that the trial court’s statement that he could not confer with 

counsel during a lunch break amounted to a deprivation of his Sixth Amendment right to 

counsel.  In rejecting this claim, the Third District Court of Appeals of Florida noted that 

“neither the record of the trial nor any other showing made by the defendant establishes or 

even intimates that either counsel or the defendant had any desire to consult during the 

critical time.”  Id. at 217 (footnote omitted).  The court held that Wallace’s “[S]ixth 

[A]mendment rights were not affected” because there was “‘no evidence that appellant was 

deprived of a right that [he] sought to exercise.’”  Id. at 217, 221 (quoting Haney v. State, 

603 So. 2d 368, 378 (Ala. Crim. App. 1991), aff’d sub nom. Ex parte Haney, 603 So.2d 

412 (1992), cert. denied, 507 U.S. 925 (1993)).   

In Baldridge, 857 S.W.2d at 252, the trial court advised the defendant that she could 

not consult with counsel during an overnight recess.  The Missouri Court of Appeals held 

that, although a defendant need not show prejudice if there is a deprivation of the right to 
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counsel, the defendant must show that she actually was deprived of her right to counsel.  

Id.  Baldridge failed to make this showing where there was no objection to the instruction 

or any other evidence that she would have met with counsel absent the ruling.  Id.  

Other courts have similarly concluded.  See e.g. Bailey v. Redman, 657 F.2d 21, 23–

24 (3d Cir. 1981) (Although an instruction to the defendant not to discuss testimony with 

anyone during overnight recess was improper, absent a showing that the defendant wanted 

to meet with counsel, there was no violation of the defendant’s Sixth Amendment right to 

counsel.), cert. denied, 454 U.S. 1153 (1982); Commonwealth v. Glashauser, 8 Pa. D. & 

C.4th 325 (Pa. Com. Pl. 1990) (Prejudice was not presumed from an instruction not to 

discuss testimony with anyone during an overnight recess because if “such instruction is 

not objected to, nor is there any indication that counsel wanted to speak to the defendant, 

there can be no impermissible infringement on the right to counsel.”).5  

To be sure, the reasoning of these cases is not universal.  Appellee and the dissent 

have cited one case that has dealt with a Geders-type violation.   See Martin v. United 

 
5 As the dissent notes, Bailey v. Redman, 657 F.2d 21 (3d Cir. 1981), cert. denied, 

454 U.S. 1153 (1982), was decided before Perry v. Leeke, 488 U.S. 272 (1989), in which 

the Supreme Court held that the requirement to prove Strickland prejudice does not apply 

where there was an actual deprivation of the right to counsel.  The Supreme Court of 

Delaware, however, subsequently addressed an argument by Bailey that he should be able 

to file a post-conviction proceeding after the three-year deadline because it was filed within 

three years of Perry, which Bailey asserted announced a new retroactive rule.  Bailey v. 

State, 588 A.2d 1121, 1126 (Del. 1991).  The court stated that “Perry did not hold that 

Geders applied regardless of whether the defendant made some showing that he was 

actually prevented from communicating with his lawyer during a long recess.”  Id. at 1129.  

It concluded that Perry did not change the analysis in the 1981 decision that a defendant 

needed to show that he or she wanted to meet with counsel but was prevented from doing 

so by the court’s instruction.  Id.   
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States, 991 A.2d 791 (D.C. 2010).  In Martin, the District of Columbia Court of Appeals 

rejected the government’s argument that, to obtain a new trial, a defendant who has been 

told not to confer with counsel must show that “he wanted to meet with counsel but was 

prevented from doing so by the court’s instruction.”  Id. at 795.  We find, however, the 

reasoning of the other cases cited above to be more persuasive.   

We hold that, although an order to the defendant not to discuss his or her testimony 

with anyone during an overnight recess is improper, it does not, by itself, constitute a 

deprivation of the right to counsel.  Rather, to show that the instruction resulted in a 

violation of the defendant’s Sixth Amendment right to counsel, there must be some 

evidence that there was an actual deprivation of counsel.  This evidence may be in the form 

of an objection to the court’s instruction or some other evidence showing that the defendant 

wanted to speak with counsel and would have done so absent the instruction.6  In the 

absence of a showing of an actual deprivation of the Sixth Amendment right to counsel, 

the defendant is not entitled to a presumption of prejudice.  

Here, the circuit court’s finding of prejudice was as follows: 

Petitioner was prejudiced by trial counsel’s failure to object not only because 

he was deprived of his Sixth Amendment right to counsel during the 

overnight recess, but also because he was not able to raise the issue on appeal 

due to trial counsel’s failure to object to the erroneous instruction.  

 
6 The dissent characterizes our holding to be that the Sixth Amendment does not 

entitle appellee to confer with counsel, but it only entitled him to confer with counsel if he 

asked to do so.  That is not our holding.  We are saying that, for a convicted defendant to 

be entitled to a new trial, particularly in the context of a post-conviction petition, the 

defendant must show that he or she was actually deprived of the right to counsel, i.e., that 

the defendant wanted to talk with counsel, or that counsel wanted to talk with the defendant, 

and they would have done so absent the instruction.   
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With respect to the first finding, that appellee was prejudiced by trial counsel’s 

failure to object to the instruction “because he was deprived of his Sixth Amendment right 

to counsel during the overnight recess,” the court appeared to presume prejudice based on 

its finding of an actual deprivation of counsel.  As we have explained, however, there was 

no showing of an actual deprivation of appellee’s right to counsel, given that there was no 

objection to the instruction and there was no other evidence showing that appellee would 

have talked with counsel absent the instruction.  Accordingly, appellee was not entitled to 

a presumption of prejudice.   

In the absence of a presumption of prejudice, it was appellee’s burden to prove 

prejudice, i.e., to “articulate how specific errors of counsel undermined the reliability of 

the finding of guilt.”  Ramirez, 464 Md. at 564 (quoting Walker v. State, 391 Md. 233, 247 

(2006)).  Appellee makes no argument that, but for the lack of overnight consultation, the 

result of the trial would have been different.   

The only argument appellee makes on appeal regarding prejudice relates to the 

court’s statement that he was prejudiced by counsel’s failure to object to the instruction 

because the failure to object precluded him from raising the issue on appeal.  As the State 

notes, this argument fails under the analysis set forth in Newton v. State, 455 Md. 341 

(2017).   

In Newton, 455 Md. at 348–49, the trial court sent the alternate juror into 

deliberation with the other jurors, instructing her and other members of the jury that she 

should not participate in their discussions, but only listen to deliberations in the event that 
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a juror was excused.  Defense counsel consented to this procedure.  Id. at 348.  After his 

convictions were affirmed on appeal, Newton filed a petition for postconviction relief, 

arguing that counsel’s failure to object to the alternate’s presence during deliberations 

constituted ineffective assistance of counsel under the Sixth Amendment.  Id. at 349–50.  

He argued that “he was prejudiced because, had his trial counsel objected to the presence 

of the alternate, he would have been granted a new trial on appeal.”  Id. at 353.  The Court 

of Appeals rejected this argument, explaining: 

This argument assumes, however, that the trial court would have permitted 

the juror to sit in on deliberations over counsel’s objection.  When we 

examine prejudice for an ineffective-assistance-of-counsel claim, we 

“presume . . . that the judge . . . acted according to law.”  Strickland, 466 U.S. 

at 694.  We therefore must assume that if Newton’s attorney had objected, 

the judge would have sustained Newton’s objection and excused the alternate 

as required by Maryland Rule 4-312(g)(3). 

 

Id. at 361.  Following this analysis, we presume that, had trial counsel objected on the basis 

of Geders, the trial court would have changed its instruction and allowed appellee the 

opportunity to speak with his attorney during the overnight recess.  

Appellee failed to show prejudice due to counsel’s failure to object to the court’s 

no-communication instruction, and therefore, he failed to prove his claim of ineffective 

assistance of counsel.  The circuit court erred in granting him a new trial in this regard.   

We address briefly one other issue.  As indicated, the circuit court found that trial 

counsel’s motion for a new trial was both “untimely and inadequate,” and it stated: “If not 

for this [c]ourt’s decision [on the Geders issue], it would recommend that [appellee] be 

permitted to make a belated Motion for a New Trial.”  The State indicated in its brief that 
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it is not challenging this ruling.  The court’s ruling in this regard, however, was a 

recommendation, not an order.  Accordingly, now that we have reversed the court’s order 

on the Geders issue, we remand for further proceedings to allow the court to issue an order 

regarding the motion for a new trial.7   

JUDGMENT OF THE CIRCUIT COURT 

FOR HOWARD COUNTY REVERSED 

AND REMANDED FOR FURTHER 

PROCEEDINGS CONSISTENT WITH 

THIS OPINION.  COSTS TO BE PAID BY 

APPELLEE. 

 

 

 
7 In doing so, we note that, with respect to belated appeals, the law is established 

that “a defendant in a criminal case denied his right to a desired appeal through no fault of 

his own, and who has been diligent in attempting to assert his appeal rights, is entitled to a 

belated appeal, without the necessity of presenting any other evidence of prejudice.”  

Garrison v. State, 350 Md. 128, 139 (1998).  A similar analysis applies to the failure to file 

a motion for modification of a sentence upon request.  See Mathews v. State, 161 Md. App. 

248, 252 (2008).  Cf. Butler v. State, –— Md. App. –—, –—, No. 1343, Sept. Term, 2021, 

slip op. at 9–10 (filed June 30, 2022) (Denial of post-conviction relief was proper where 

motion for modification of sentence was not timely filed, but the motion nevertheless was 

denied on its merits.).  The court can assess on remand whether the remedy of allowing the 

filing of a belated motion for a new trial is appropriate pursuant to the analysis set forth in 

these cases.   
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At the end of the fourth day of Damien Gary Clark’s trial, the court ordered him sua 

sponte not to speak with his counsel during the evening recess. The State and the majority 

all agree that Mr. Clark had a Sixth Amendment right to confer with his counsel during 

trial and that the court’s unprompted directive was wrong. And all seem to agree as well 

that had Mr. Clark’s counsel objected at the time, he would be entitled to a new trial under 

Geders v. United States, 425 U.S. 80 (1976), because the court’s directive deprived him of 

his Sixth Amendment right to counsel. 

This case is Geders with exactly one difference: Mr. Clark’s counsel failed to object 

to the court’s direction. In most instances, that difference would matter, but not here, where 

the right at issue is the right to counsel. Under Geders and the cases that follow it, Mr. 

Clark’s Sixth Amendment rights were violated, in real life terms and in constitutional 

terms, when the court wrongly forbade him from conferring with counsel. The deprivation 

happened when the court ordered it, and certainly no later than the following morning, 

when the overnight recess ended. This is because the right to counsel was Mr. Clark’s, not 

his counsel’s to waive or neglect away. And although, as I explain, Mr. Clark shouldn’t 

have been required to prove prejudice, the post-conviction court applied the full Strickland 

v. Washington analysis and found, on this record, both that trial counsel had performed 

deficiently by failing to object and that Mr. Clark had been prejudiced by counsel’s failure 

to object and the inability to confer with his counsel overnight had he wanted to.  

Nevertheless, the majority now holds that Mr. Clark must resurrect his own 

constitutional right. Although the deprivation that occurred here is identical to the 

deprivation in Geders, the majority requires him to prove retroactively that he actually had 

Appx. 23



 

2 

planned to exercise the Sixth Amendment right the trial court forbade him from 

exercising—otherwise no harm, despite the foul. He is worse off in constitutional and 

real-life terms for his counsel’s indisputably deficient performance (the majority doesn’t 

challenge that finding), no small irony in a right to counsel case. I dissent, respectfully, and 

would affirm the judgment of the postconviction court.     

I. 

The majority recounts the procedural history faithfully, but Mr. Clark’s direct appeal 

and post-conviction proceedings merit a little more detail. 

First, on direct appeal, Mr. Clark argued, among other things, “that the trial court 

erred in instructing him, while he was on the stand during direct examination, that he could 

not speak with his attorney during the overnight recess.” Clark v. State, No. 486, Sept. 

Term 2019, slip op. at 11–12, 2020 WL 3498463 at *7 (Md. App. June 29, 2020). He 

asserted “that the trial judge’s order to him that he not consult his counsel overnight ‘denied 

[him] of his Sixth Amendment right to counsel at a crucial time in the proceedings, namely, 

during [his] testimony and cross-examination, and after a critical day of testimony that 

included the testimony of eight state witnesses and the admission of forty pieces of 

evidence.’” Id., slip op. at 13, 2020 WL 3498463 at *7. The State countered that Mr. Clark 

had failed to preserve the issue for appeal because he “‘not only failed to object when the 

court imposed the restriction, he acquiesced to the court’s instruction.’” Id. 

We held that although “Mr. Clark’s argument ha[d] merit, we [were] constrained to 

agree with the State that this argument [was] not preserved.” Id. We agreed with Mr. Clark 

that the facts of his case were almost indistinguishable from the circumstances in Geders 
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v. United States, 425 U.S. 80, (1976) where the Supreme Court ruled “that an order 

preventing [Mr. Geders] from consulting his counsel ‘about anything’ during a 17-hour 

overnight recess between his direct- and cross-examination impinged upon his right to the 

assistance of counsel guaranteed by the Sixth Amendment.” Id. at 91. We found “one 

critical caveat[,]” however, a “dispositive procedural difference between the two cases: 

defense counsel in Geders objected to the instruction, [] and defense counsel here didn’t.” 

Clark, slip op. at 13–14, 2020 WL 3498463 at *7–*8. 

In our opinion, we noted that “unpreserved trial errors are best addressed through 

an ineffective assistance of counsel claim at post-conviction.” Id., slip op. at 14, 2020 WL 

3498463 at *8. We “confess[ed] that we [couldn’t] think of any reason why counsel would 

opt not to object to the trial judge’s instruction that Mr. Clark not consult with his attorney 

overnight[,]” but we couldn’t “eliminate the possibility, however slim, that counsel had a 

legitimate strategic or tactical reason for letting the instruction go . . . .” Id. We concluded 

that there was “no record on which we [could] evaluate the question[,]” and observed that 

“Mr. Clark [would] have the opportunity to develop that record on post-conviction.” Id. 

We rejected Mr. Clark’s remaining contentions and affirmed his convictions.  

Second, in granting Mr. Clark’s request for post-conviction relief, the 

postconviction court found the trial court’s no-communication directive inconsistent with 

the Geders rule. After recounting trial counsel’s testimony during the hearing, the post-

conviction court found that “[n]one of trial counsel’s testimony indicated that there was a 

‘legitimate strategic or tactical reason for letting the instruction go.’” Instead, “[t]rial 

counsel simply felt that there was no need to communicate that evening.” And the court 

Appx. 25



 

4 

found this problematic because the fundamental right to assistance of counsel belonged to 

Mr. Clark, not to trial counsel: 

The Sixth Amendment right to counsel belongs solely to the 

individual on trial and cannot be waived by his attorney. In the 

Geders case, as here, the trial court ordered the defendant not 

to consult with his attorney during an overnight recess that 

occurred between the defendant’s direct and cross 

examination. The Supreme Court held that “[a]n order 

preventing petitioner from consulting his counsel ‘about 

anything’ during a 17-hour overnight recess between his direct 

and cross examination impinged upon his right to the 

assistance of counsel guaranteed by the Sixth Amendment.” 

Geders, 245 U.S. at 91.  

Based on its interpretation of Geders, the post-conviction court concluded that “[a]lthough 

trial counsel may not have been aware of any need to consult with [Mr. Clark] overnight, 

[Mr. Clark] may have desired to do so, but was not able to due to the trial court’s 

instruction.” As such, the court found, trial counsel rendered deficient performance.  

 The post-conviction court found as well that trial counsel’s failure to object to the 

court’s no-communication directive prejudiced Mr. Clark “not only because he was 

deprived of his Sixth Amendment right to counsel during the overnight recess, but also 

because he was not able to raise the issue on appeal due to trial counsel’s failure to object 

to the erroneous instruction.” The post-conviction court held that Mr. Clark was entitled to 

a new trial on these grounds, but denied relief for his remaining allegations of ineffective 

assistance of counsel.1  

 
1 The court also sustained Mr. Clark’s allegation that “[t]rial counsel’s motion for a 

new trial was untimely and inadequate.” The court found this to be deficient performance 

and noted “[i]f not for this Court’s decision” regarding the court’s no-communication 
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II. 

I start from the core principle that the Sixth Amendment to the United States 

Constitution guarantees criminal defendants the right to effective counsel at all critical 

stages of a criminal case. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 685 (1984). But whether 

defense counsel was ineffective is a different question than whether a defendant was denied 

counsel altogether. “There is a distinction between the actual or constructive denial of the 

assistance of counsel altogether, and whether the quality of the lawyer’s performance itself 

has been constitutionally ineffective.” Wooten-Bey v. State, 318 Md. 301, 307 (1990) 

(cleaned up). 

In Strickland, the Supreme Court enumerated “the standard for determining whether 

counsel’s legal assistance to his client was so inadequate that it effectively deprived the 

client of the protections guaranteed by the Sixth Amendment.” Perry v. Leeke, 488 U.S. 

272, 279 (1989). Under Strickland, “a defendant who claims that he has received 

ineffective assistance must show first that counsel’s performance was deficient, and second 

that the defective performance prejudiced the defense.” Rich v. State, 230 Md. App. 537, 

553 (2016) (emphasis in original) (citing Strickland, 466 U.S at 687). 

The State’s appeal in this case hinges on the view that the post-conviction court 

misapplied the Geders rule to a Strickland claim. The State asserts that “[t]he claim of error 

that was before the postconviction court was not a claim of Geders error. Rather, it was a 

 

directive, “it would recommend that [Mr. Clark] be permitted to make a belated Motion for 

a New Trial.” Although I wouldn’t need to reach this, I agree, in the context of its holdings, 

with the majority’s decision to remand for further proceedings on this question. 

Appx. 27



 

6 

Strickland claim that trial counsel had rendered ineffective assistance by failing to preserve 

or prevent a Geders error.” Put another way, the State faults the post-conviction court for 

assessing Mr. Clark’s ineffective assistance of counsel claims under Geders, rather than 

Strickland, because “Geders was not an ineffective-assistance case; rather, Geders was a 

case of trial-court error reviewed on direct appeal.” But the post-conviction court did assess 

Mr. Clark’s claim under Strickland, albeit without directly citing to the case. And in any 

event, Mr. Clark prevails under either standard.  

A. Geders And Strickland.  

So that I don’t “‘inappropriately scrambl[e] the eggs of’” the Geders rule and the 

Strickland standard, I begin with an overview of the relationship between 

no-communication directives and ineffective assistance of counsel claims. Ramirez v. 

State, 464 Md. 532, 565 (2019) (quoting Redman v. State, 363 Md. 298, 303 n.5 (2001)).  

As we acknowledged in Mr. Clark’s direct appeal, there is no principled distinction 

between Geders and the facts of this case except that trial counsel in Geders objected to 

the court’s no-communication directive where Mr. Clark’s trial counsel didn’t. Mr. Geders 

was charged with conspiracy to import a controlled dangerous substance and possession of 

marijuana. Geders, 425 U.S. at 81. He, like Mr. Clark, testified in his own defense. Id. at 

82. At the conclusion of his direct testimony, “the court recessed for the night” and “the 

prosecutor asked the judge to instruct [Mr. Geders] not to discuss the case overnight with 

anyone.” Id. Defense counsel objected, arguing that “he had a right to confer with his client 

about matters other than the imminent cross-examination,” but the trial court overruled 

defense counsel’s objection and granted the prosecution’s request. Id. Mr. Geders was 
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convicted and sentenced to prison. Id. at 85. 

The Supreme Court reversed his conviction, holding “that an order preventing [Mr. 

Geders] from consulting his counsel ‘about anything’ during a 17-hour overnight recess 

between his direct- and cross-examination impinged upon his right to the assistance of 

counsel guaranteed by the Sixth Amendment.” Id. at 91. The Court reasoned that “[i]t is 

common practice during such recesses for an accused and counsel to discuss the events of 

the day’s trial”: 

Such recesses are often times of intensive work, with tactical 

decisions to be made and strategies to be reviewed. The lawyer 

may need to obtain from his client information made relevant 

by the day’s testimony, or he may need to pursue inquiry along 

lines not fully explored earlier. At the very least, the overnight 

recess during trial gives the defendant a chance to discuss with 

counsel the significance of the day’s events. Our cases 

recognize that the role of counsel is important precisely 

because ordinarily a defendant is ill-equipped to understand 

and deal with the trial process without a lawyer’s guidance.  

Id. at 88.  

The Court acknowledged a trial court’s “broad power to sequester witnesses before, 

during, and after their testimony[,]” id. at 87 (citations omitted), but noted that “[a] 

sequestration order affects a defendant in quite a different way from the way it affects a 

nonparty witness who presumably has no stake in the outcome of the trial.” Id. at 88. 

Because there were “other ways to deal with the problem of possible improper influence 

on testimony or ‘coaching’ of a witness short of putting a barrier between client and counsel 

for so long a period as 17 hours[,]” id. at 89, the Court concluded that “[t]o the extent that 

conflict remains between the defendant’s right to consult with his attorney during a long 
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overnight recess . . . and the prosecutor’s desire to cross-examine the defendant without 

intervention of counsel,” “the conflict must, under the Sixth Amendment, be resolved in 

favor of the right to the assistance and guidance of counsel.” Id. at 91 (citation omitted). 

The Court reversed Mr. Geders’s conviction without considering whether the trial court’s 

ruling prejudiced him.  

Eight years after Geders, the Supreme Court decided Strickland. In addition to 

establishing the two-prong test required to demonstrate ineffective assistance of counsel, 

the Court also discussed the limited “Sixth Amendment contexts” where “prejudice is 

presumed.” Strickland, 466 U.S. at 692. One such context that Strickland identified is cases 

where there is “[a]ctual or constructive denial of the assistance of counsel altogether . . . .” 

Id. at 692. The Court reasoned that “[p]rejudice in these circumstances is so likely that 

case-by-case inquiry into prejudice is not worth the cost.” Id. (citation omitted). In other 

words, the actual or constructive denial of counsel is “quite different from a case in which 

it is claimed that counsel’s performance was ineffective.” Penson v. Ohio, 488 U.S. 75, 88 

(1988). And in those cases, there is no need to analyze the second prong of Strickland.  

 The same day that the Supreme Court issued its opinion in Strickland, it also decided 

United States v. Cronic, 466 U.S. 648 (1984). In Cronic, the Court explained further the 

narrow exceptions to Strickland’s general rule requiring proof of prejudice. The Court 

“recogniz[ed] that the right to effective assistance of counsel is recognized not for its own 

sake, but because of the effect it has on the ability of the accused to receive a fair trial.” Id. 

at 658. Usually, the Court said, “the burden rests on the accused to demonstrate a 

constitutional violation[,]” but it noted that there were also “circumstances that are so likely 
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to prejudice the accused that the cost of litigating their effect in a particular case is 

unjustified.” Id. The most obvious circumstance, the Court reasoned, was a complete denial 

of counsel: 

The presumption that counsel’s assistance is essential requires 

us to conclude that a trial is unfair if the accused is denied 

counsel at a critical stage of his trial. Similarly, if counsel 

entirely fails to subject the prosecution’s case to meaningful 

adversarial testing, then there has been a denial of Sixth 

Amendment rights that make the adversary process itself 

presumptively unreliable. 

Id. at 659.  

In Perry, decided five years after Strickland and Cronic, the Supreme Court had the 

opportunity to consider whether a trial court’s no-communication directive is subject to 

Strickland’s prejudice analysis. 488 U.S. at 272–73. Mr. Perry was charged with murder, 

kidnapping, and sexual assault. Id. at 274. He chose to take the stand and testify. Id. At the 

end of his direct testimony, the trial court announced “a 15-minute recess, and, without 

advance notice to counsel, ordered that [Mr. Perry] not be allowed to talk to anyone, 

including his lawyer, during the break.” Id. After the recess, defense counsel moved for a 

mistrial. Id. The court denied the motion, noting that Mr. Perry “was not entitled to be 

cured or assisted or helped approaching his cross-examination.” Id. (cleaned up).  

After exhausting his state appeals, Mr. Perry sought a writ of habeas corpus in the 

United States District Court for the District of South Carolina. The district court granted 

Mr. Perry relief, citing United States v. Allen, 542 F.2d 630 (4th Cir. 1976), and Stubbs v. 

Bordenkircher, 689 F.2d 1205 (4th Cir. 1982), “which held that it is always reversible error 

for a trial court to prevent a defendant and his counsel from conferring during a recess, no 
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matter how brief.” Perry v. Leeke, 832 F.2d 837, 839 (4th Cir. 1987). The United States 

Court of Appeals for the Fourth Circuit “granted en banc review to determine whether” the 

automatic reversal rule enumerated in Allen and Stubbs “continue[d] to govern in light of 

the Supreme Court decisions in” Strickland and Cronic. Id.  

Based on its interpretation of Strickland and Cronic, the Fourth Circuit held that a 

no-communication directive “mandates reversal only if that error was prejudicial.” Id. The 

majority summarized the holdings from Allen and Stubbs: 

In Allen, a panel of this circuit addressed the issue left open by 

the majority opinion in Geders and adopted the position of 

Justice Marshall’s concurrence. The panel stated that “a 

restriction on a defendant’s right to consult with his attorney 

during a brief routine recess is constitutionally impermissible” 

and that reversal would be necessary whether or not the 

restriction was prejudicial. 542 F.2d at 634. 

Later, in Stubbs, we qualified Allen slightly to require the 

petitioner “to show that he desired to consult with his attorney, 

and would have consulted with him but for the restriction 

placed upon him by the trial judge.” 689 F.2d at 1207.  

Id. at 840. The court noted that but for Strickland and Cronic, the automatic reversal rule 

of Allen and Stubbs would be controlling in Mr. Perry’s case. However, the court found 

that the automatic reversal rule “cannot be squared with the analysis of Strickland and 

Cronic, and must be replaced with an inquiry into prejudice.” Id. at 840–41.  

 The Fourth Circuit reasoned that “Strickland and Geders do not imply . . . that Sixth 

Amendment claims can be mechanically divided into a typology requiring automatic 

reversal when there is a ‘denial of counsel’ and a prejudice analysis where there is 

‘ineffective assistance’”: 
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The determinative factor in analyzing a Sixth Amendment 

claim is not the label to be attached to the alleged deprivation. 

The Supreme Court has recognized as much by alternately 

describing Geders as a case involving the denial of counsel, 

and as a case involving ineffective assistance. Instead, the 

ultimate focus of the inquiry must be on the fundamental 

fairness of the proceeding whose result is being challenged. 

 

Strickland and Cronic held that because the purpose of the 

Sixth Amendment is simply to ensure that criminal defendants 

receive a fair trial, the analysis of claims alleging violations of 

the right to counsel always focuses on prejudice. Automatic 

reversal is warranted only where prejudice can be presumed.  

Id. (cleaned up). The Fourth Circuit reversed the district court’s order granting Mr. Perry 

relief, based on its conclusion that Mr. Perry did not suffer prejudice because of the trial 

court’s no-communication directive. Id. at 843.  

The Supreme Court ultimately affirmed the Fourth Circuit but declined to “accept 

the rationale” of that decision. Perry, 488 U.S. at 280. The Court held that the Geders rule 

concerning a no-communication directive “is not subject to the kind of prejudice analysis” 

announced in Strickland, id., and reasoned “that a showing of prejudice is not an essential 

component of a violation of the rule announced in Geders.” Id. at 278–79. The Court stated 

that its “citation of Geders” in Strickland “was intended to make clear that actual or 

constructive denial of the assistance of counsel altogether is not subject to the kind of 

prejudice analysis that is appropriate in determining whether the quality of a lawyer’s 

performance itself has been constitutionally ineffective.” Id. at 280 (cleaned up). 

Preventing a defendant from communicating with trial counsel during an overnight recess, 

the Court concluded, constituted actual or constructive denial of the assistance of counsel.  

The Court also “consider[ed] whether the Geders rule applies to a similar order 
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entered at the beginning of a 15-minute afternoon recess.” Id. at 274. The Court held that 

it didn’t, and distinguished the recess in Geders from the recess in Perry: 

The interruption in Geders was of a different character because 

the normal consultation between attorney and client that occurs 

during an overnight recess would encompass matters that go 

beyond the content of the defendant’s own testimony—matters 

that the defendant does have a constitutional right to discuss 

with his lawyer, such as the availability of other witnesses, trial 

tactics, or even the possibility of negotiating a plea bargain. It 

is the defendant’s right to unrestricted access to his lawyer for 

advice on a variety of trial-related matters that is controlled in 

the context of a long recess . . . . The fact that such discussions 

will inevitably include some consideration of the defendant’s 

ongoing testimony does not compromise that basic right. But 

in a short recess in which it is appropriate to presume that 

nothing but the testimony will be discussed, the testifying 

defendant does not have a constitutional right to advice.  

Id. at 284. 

 The majority distinguishes this line of cases by disputing that the court’s instruction 

in this case deprived Mr. Clark of his right to counsel. Slip op. at 10–12. But the right is 

the right, and it strains common sense to conclude that a right to counsel, which inheres in 

the defendant himself, can be waived by ineffective counsel and must be resurrected, with 

Strickland-level proof of prejudice, by the ineffective counsel’s client.     

B. The Trial Court Deprived Mr. Clark Of Counsel During The 

Overnight Recess, In Violation Of Geders.  

As a factual matter, there is no dispute that the trial court instructed Mr. Clark that 

he was not to confer with his counsel overnight, nor that he heeded this instruction and, in 

fact, did not confer with his counsel during the overnight recess. In reality, Mr. Clark was 

precluded by the court from conferring with his counsel, and he never did confer with his 
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counsel. The State argues first, though, that he wasn’t actually deprived of the opportunity 

to confer with his counsel—indeed, the State says that “there was no factual basis on which 

the postconviction court could conclude that [Mr.] Clark and his counsel would have 

consulted during the overnight recess but for the trial court’s directive[,]” and that the 

post-conviction court erred in concluding that Mr. Clark “was actually deprived of 

consultation with counsel in violation of Geders.” How is this possible? The State concedes 

that under the Geders rule, “[t]he trial court’s directive was improper,” and the majority 

agrees. Nonetheless, the State asserts “that a Sixth Amendment deprivation of the type 

recognized in Geders . . . does not occur unless a court’s no-communication directive 

actually prevents the defendant and defense counsel from communicating[,]” which in turn 

requires Mr. Clark to prove that he actually had wanted to confer with counsel. In other 

words, it is not enough on this posture that the trial court ordered him not to communicate 

with his lawyer—the State contends that he also must prove retroactively his then-

contemporaneous intent to do so.  

  The State acknowledges “Perry’s teaching that no showing of actual prejudice is 

necessary to establish a Sixth Amendment violation under Geders,” but argues that 

“multiple courts have recognized . . . that a Geders error is not established simply by a trial 

court’s unobjected-to directive not to communicate with counsel during a lengthy recess, 

without more.”2 Instead, “a defendant asserting a Geders claim still must establish that the 

 
2 The State asserts that Mr. Clark “mischaracterizes the State as arguing that a 

Geders error requires a showing of prejudice.” “To the contrary,” the State argues, “the 

actual-deprivation rule is not a requirement for the defendant to show prejudice resulting 
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defendant was in fact deprived of consultation with counsel that the defendant in fact 

desired.” The State asserts that Mr. Clark “fail[ed] to provide authority to rebut the 

proposition that an actual deprivation of communication with trial counsel is a necessary 

component of a Geders claim.”  

Until today, no Maryland court had recognized such a presumption, and the majority 

errs in doing so here. Whether or not Mr. Clark desired to communicate with trial counsel 

doesn’t matter for purposes of establishing a Geders violation. The federal appellate court 

decisions and state appellate court decisions on which the majority relies—including Bailey 

v. Redman, 657 F.2d 21 (3d Cir. 1981), United States v. Nelson, 884 F.3d 1103 (11th Cir. 

2018), and Wallace v. State, 851 So. 2d 216 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 2003)—are all 

distinguishable and, in my view, inconsistent with the reality that Mr. Clark was deprived 

of his opportunity to consult with counsel when the trial court instructed him not to consult 

with counsel overnight.  

The United States Court of Appeals for the Third Circuit decided Bailey in 1981, 

before the Supreme Court’s decisions in Strickland, Cronic, and Perry. During Mr. 

Bailey’s trial for first-degree murder and related charges, the trial court instructed him “not 

to discuss your testimony with anybody” during the overnight recess. Bailey, 657 F.2d at 

22. Defense counsel did not object to the trial court’s no-communication directive. Id. at 

23. Mr. Bailey didn’t raise this issue until he sought post-conviction relief, arguing that 

 

from a deprivation of the right to counsel; rather, it is a requirement for the defendant to 

show that there was a deprivation of counsel in the first place.” But as I discuss below, Mr. 

Clark was not required to show prejudice or actual deprivation.  
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under Geders, “the trial court’s instruction constituted a per se ‘deprivation’ of his sixth 

amendment right to counsel.” Id. The Third Circuit disagreed: 

While we acknowledge that the Supreme Court held in Geders 

that a defendant may not be prohibited from consulting with 

his attorney during an overnight recess . . . our holding in the 

instant case is not inconsistent with [that] decision[]. In [] 

Geders . . . there was an indication that absent the court’s 

instruction, the defendant would have met with his counsel. In 

the instant case [Mr. Bailey] made no such showing. He did 

not question or object to the court’s instruction nor has he 

presented evidence to corroborate his assertion that he failed to 

do so because of the chilling effect of the court’s admonition. 

Id. at 23–24 (cleaned up). Therefore, the court declined to find that Mr. Bailey was 

“deprived of a right that he sought to exercise.” Id. at 24.  

 On its face, then, Bailey is consistent with the State’s argument that Mr. Clark was 

required to demonstrate that he actually wanted to meet with counsel for a completed 

Geders violation to occur and that he failed to do so. And in Stubbs, the Fourth Circuit 

based its holding (that a defendant must show an actual deprivation of counsel by 

demonstrating that they wanted to meet with trial counsel but were prevented from doing 

so) on its interpretation that Mr. “Stubbs was in precisely the same position as the petitioner 

in Bailey . . . .” 689 F.2d at 1207. And then in Perry, where the trial court instructed the 

defendant not to communicate with counsel during a fifteen-minute recess, the Fourth 

Circuit cited Stubbs to hold that under Strickland and Cronic, “the per se reversal rule . . . 

must be replaced with an inquiry into prejudice.” 832 F.2d at 841.  

 But again, when Perry went to the Supreme Court, the Court rejected the Fourth 

Circuit’s rationale and made a point of clarifying that it only cited Geders in Strickland “to 
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make clear that actual or constructive denial of the assistance of counsel altogether is not 

subject to the kind of prejudice analysis that is appropriate in determining whether the 

quality of a lawyer’s performance itself has been constitutionally ineffective.” 488 U.S. at 

280. Indeed, the Court held in Perry “that a showing of prejudice is not an essential 

component of a violation of the rule announced in Geders.” Id. at 278–79.3  

And the rule announced in Geders—“that an order preventing [Mr. Geders] from 

consulting his counsel ‘about anything’ during a 17-hour overnight recess between his 

direct-and cross-examination impinged upon his right to the assistance of counsel 

guaranteed by the Sixth Amendment”—makes no mention of any requirement that a 

defendant prove an actual real-time desire to meet with counsel during the overnight recess 

as a condition of proving that they were deprived of the assistance of counsel. 425 U.S. at 

91. To establish a completed Geders violation, then, Mr. Clark was required only to 

demonstrate that the trial court issued a blanket no-communication directive for the 

overnight recess. He met that burden.  

Where Bailey is distinguishable legally, Nelson is distinguishable factually. Mr. 

 
3 The majority then quotes dicta from Mr. Bailey’s later attempt to obtain post-Perry 

post-conviction relief (the claim was held to be barred procedurally) for the proposition 

that “Perry did not change the analysis in the 1981 decision that a defendant needed to 

show that he or she wanted to meet with counsel but was prevented from doing so by the 

court’s instruction.” Slip op. at 16 n.5 (citing Bailey v. State, 588 A.2d 1121, 1129 (Del. 

1991)). The Delaware Supreme Court’s analysis of Mr. Bailey’s claim followed its 

recognition, citing Perry, that prejudice analysis is inappropriate where the defendant 

proves that the trial court totally deprived him of his Sixth Amendment rights, but leaps 

from that to the conclusion, without analysis or citation, that “Perry did not hold that 

Geders applied regardless of whether the defendant made some showing that he was 

actually prevented from communicating with his lawyer during a long recess.” Id. I take 

the Supreme Court at its word on this question.  
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Nelson and his co-defendant, Mr. Skillern, were convicted of mail fraud, wire fraud, and 

conspiracy. Nelson, 884 F.3d at 1104. On appeal, Mr. Skillern argued that he was deprived 

of his Sixth Amendment right to the assistance of counsel because “just before an overnight 

recess that occurred while [Mr.] Skillern was on the stand, the court granted his lawyer’s 

request to speak to him ‘about matters other than his testimony.’” Id. The United States 

Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit held that under “the circumstances of this case,” 

the trial court did not commit an unconstitutional error in granting the defense attorney’s 

request. Id. In its analysis, the Eleventh Circuit considered where Mr. Skillern’s case fell 

“along the spectrum marked out” by Geders and Perry: 

The limitation on lawyer-client communication here was 

‘worse,’ so to speak, than in Perry, in which the Supreme Court 

found no Sixth Amendment violation, in that its duration was 

longer: there, the recess lasted only minutes; here, it spanned 

an entire night. In two respects, though, the limitation in this 

case was not as bad as in Geders . . . which found violations: 

the limitation here was more narrowly circumscribed than in 

Geders, in that [Mr.] Skillern was permitted to talk to his 

lawyer about issues other than his testimony . . . . So we’re 

somewhere in the middle: Does it violate the Sixth Amendment 

to prevent a criminal defendant from discussing his testimony, 

but not other topics, during a single overnight recess? Although 

no existing precedent resolves that precise question, even the 

Government seems to concede that the answer, at least as a 

general matter, is probably yes.  

 Id. at 1106. But the court noted that there was a “wrinkle,” that “it was [Mr.] Skillern’s 

attorney who actually proposed the limitation that [he] now challenges.” Id.  

 It’s true that the court held that “because the trial record doesn’t indicate that either 

[Mr.] Skillern or his lawyer had any intention or desire to discuss his testimony during the 

recess, [Mr.] Skillern can’t show that he was actually deprived of his right to counsel . . . .” 
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Id. at 1107. But what distinguishes Nelson from Mr. Clark’s case is that the trial court’s 

directive gave Mr. Skillern exactly what his counsel asked for: 

The issue here isn’t just that [Mr.] Skillern’s lawyer failed to 

object to the district court’s limitation. Instead, the problem is 

that the record is entirely devoid of any indication—in any 

form—that [Mr.] Skillern or his attorney planned or wanted to 

confer about his testimony during the recess. To the contrary, 

[Mr.] Skillern got from the district court exactly what his 

lawyer asked for—namely, permission to speak “about matters 

other than his testimony.” We therefore . . . hold . . . that [Mr.] 

Skillern hasn’t shown that he was actually deprived of his Sixth 

Amendment right to counsel. 

Id. at 1109–10 (emphasis in original).  

In this case, the trial court issued, sua sponte even, a blanket no-communication 

directive that precluded Mr. Clark not only from discussing his testimony during the 

overnight recess, but also from discussing any other important matters that may have 

concerned Mr. Clark during trial, matters the Supreme Court has found important:  

The interruption in Geders was of a different character because 

the normal consultation between attorney and client that occurs 

during an overnight recess would encompass matters that go 

beyond the content of the defendant’s own testimony—matters 

that the defendant does have a constitutional right to discuss 

with his lawyer, such as the availability of other witnesses, trial 

tactics, or even the possibility of negotiating a plea bargain. It 

is the defendant’s right to unrestricted access to his lawyer for 

advice on a variety of trial-related matters that is controlled in 

the context of a long recess. . . . The fact that such discussions 

will inevitably include some consideration of the defendant’s 

ongoing testimony does not compromise that basic right. But 

in a short recess in which it is appropriate to presume that 

nothing but the testimony will be discussed, the testifying 

defendant does not have a constitutional right to advice.  

Perry, 488 U.S. at 284.  
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 The majority also finds persuasive the District Court of Appeal of Florida’s decision 

in Wallace.4 Mr. Wallace was on the witness stand during his trial for first-degree murder 

when the court decided to recess for lunch and informed Mr. Wallace that he could not 

confer with defense counsel during the lunch recess. Wallace, 851 So. 2d at 217. On appeal 

from denial of post-conviction relief, Mr. Wallace argued that the trial court’s 

no-communication directive “amounted to a deprivation of his sixth amendment right to 

counsel . . . .” Id. The Florida Court of Appeal disagreed, noting that “neither the record of 

the trial nor any other showing made by [Mr. Wallace] establishes or even intimates that 

either counsel or [Mr. Wallace] had any desire to consult during the critical time . . . .” Id. 

  But again, as in Perry, there’s a difference between an overnight recess 

no-communication directive and a shorter duration no-communication directive. The 

duration of the trial court’s directive in this case was, as in Geders, one “of constitutional 

dimension.” Perry, 488 U.S. at 280. In Perry, the Supreme Court clarified that an overnight 

recess no-communication directive “was of a different character” than a fifteen-minute 

recess no-communication directive. Id. at 284. An overnight recess no-communication 

directive constitutes an “actual or constructive denial of the assistance of counsel 

altogether.” Id. at 280. Because barring communication between attorney and client during 

an overnight recess is a deprivation of constitutional dimension, I would hold that the trial 

 
4 In its brief, the State only mentions Wallace in a footnote and didn’t spend any 

time analyzing it or comparing it to the specific facts of Mr. Clark’s case, and made no 

mention of Wallace in its reply brief. At oral argument, however, the State urged us to find 

the Wallace opinion instructive.  
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court deprived Mr. Clark of his right to the assistance of counsel, in violation of Geders. 

 I disagree with Mr. Clark that the State “cherry-picked foreign cases,” but he’s right 

(and the majority agrees as well) that there are cases from other jurisdictions that weaken 

the State’s argument that we should follow Bailey, Nelson, and Wallace and require Mr. 

Clark to prove that he actually wanted and planned to consult with counsel as a condition 

of finding a completed Geders violation. For example, in Martin v. United States, the 

District of Columbia Court of Appeals rejected the government’s argument “that to show 

a deprivation of his Sixth Amendment rights, a defendant must . . . demonstrate that he 

wanted to meet with counsel, but was prevented from doing so by the court’s instruction.” 

991 A.2d 791, 795 (2010) (cleaned up).  

 Mr. Martin elected to testify in his own defense at his trial for assaulting a police 

officer. Id. at 793. On a Friday afternoon, during the Government’s cross-examination of 

Mr. Martin, the trial court adjourned until Monday and granted the Government’s request 

that he “not speak to anyone pending the examination on Monday” morning. Id. Mr. 

Martin’s counsel did not object to the court’s no-communication directive. Id.  

 On appeal, the Government argued that because Mr. Martin and his counsel “did 

not object to the sequestration order or otherwise express a desire to confer, there is no 

evidence in the record affirmatively showing that [Mr. Martin] ‘actually wished to consult 

counsel’ over the weekend recess.” Id. at 795. Therefore, the Government contended, Mr. 

Martin couldn’t “show that the challenged order actually deprived him of counsel.” Id. 

(cleaned up).  

 The District of Columbia Court of Appeals found that “[i]n an important respect, 
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the government frames the issue incorrectly”: 

The order barring [Mr. Martin] from conferring with his 

attorney during the weekend recess was erroneous. After 

Geders [and] Perry . . . that is beyond dispute. The order denied 

[Mr. Martin] his Sixth Amendment right. What the government 

really means to say is that we should presume the constitutional 

error was innocuous in the absence of evidence affirmatively 

showing that [Mr. Martin] actually wanted to confer with his 

attorney (or vice versa). The government concedes that if [Mr. 

Martin] was deprived of a right to counsel he wanted to 

exercise, he need not show how that deprivation prejudiced 

him. But the government argues that no such deprivation is 

shown on the record before us. 

Id. The court found the Government’s argument “flawed”: 

In essence, the government is arguing that [Mr. Martin] waived 

his Sixth Amendment right to the assistance of counsel by his 

failure to assert it—in other words, by his silence—when the 

trial judge erroneously undertook to curtail his exercise of the 

right. But “a valid waiver [of Sixth Amendment rights] cannot 

be presumed from a silent record.” For a waiver of the right to 

counsel to be valid, it must be “an intentional relinquishment 

or abandonment of a known right or privilege.” As the 

Supreme Court has emphasized, “the right to counsel does not 

depend upon a request by the defendant, and . . . courts indulge 

in every reasonable presumption against waiver. Thus, the 

burden is on the government to establish a valid waiver in this 

case, not on [Mr. Martin] to disprove it.  

The government has not carried that burden in this case. The 

basic defect in its position is that the requisite knowledge and 

intent to support a finding of waiver cannot be inferred from 

the mere fact that [Mr. Martin] and defense counsel failed to 

object to the court’s sequestration order.  

Id. at 796 (emphasis in original) (citations omitted). The court held, therefore, that Mr. 

Martin was entitled to a new trial, even though there was no evidence that he desired to 

communicate with defense counsel over the weekend recess and was actually prevented by 
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the court’s no-communication order from doing so.5  

The State characterizes Mr. Clark’s claim as a “Geders-like Sixth Amendment 

claim[.]” But this isn’t a Geders-like claim—it’s a straight-up Geders claim. The 

deprivation happened. I can find only one reported case in which a Maryland appellate 

court has directly addressed the Geders rule, Wooten-Bey v. State, 76 Md. App. 603, 605 

(1988), and it’s consistent with my analysis here. Mr. Wooten-Bey was convicted of felony 

murder and related offenses. He testified in his own defense, and before a lunch recess 

during his direct testimony, the trial court and Mr. Wooten-Bey’s defense counsel had the 

following exchange: 

[DEFENSE COUNSEL]: Your Honor, I think I have about five 

more minutes, but I’m not sure. May I inquire if we might take 

a luncheon break, and I can finish within five minutes. I may 

have even less then [sic] that, if that is agreeable? 

[THE COURT]: All right. [Jury Foreman], and ladies and 

gentlemen, we will indeed break until 1:30 for lunch. . . . Mr. 

Wooten-Bey, you are a sequestered witness sir, which means 

you may not now discuss with anything, including [defense 

counsel] anything about your testimony on the witness stand, 

because you are sequestered.  

[DEFENSE COUNSEL]: I think I do have the right to talk 

about what I may ask him. 

[THE COURT]: Under no circumstances may you talk to a 

witness under oath on the witness stand. You, or [State’s 

Attorney], or anybody. That witness is sequestered, and under 

oath, and going through their testimony. As opposed to a 

sequestered witness outside, you can talk to. But not once the 

witness is sequestered by the oath, they’re not to be approached 

by anybody.  

 
5 I acknowledge that Martin is a direct appeal, and not an appeal from the denial or 

grant of post-conviction relief. But as I discuss below, that distinction does not affect or 

alter my analysis.  
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Id. at 607–08. But the trial court “then qualified this statement, telling defense counsel that 

[it] was not forbidding all consultation between [Mr. Wooten-Bey] and his attorney during 

lunch, only consultation concerning [Mr. Wooten-Bey’s] ‘prospective testimony.’” Id. at 

608 (emphasis in original). And after the State’s cross-examination of Mr. Wooten-Bey, 

the trial court allowed Mr. Wooten-Bey and his attorney to confer about Mr. Wooten-Bey’s 

desire to “resume the stand . . . .” Id.  

 On appeal, we agreed with Mr. Wooten-Bey “that the trial judge erred in imposing 

any restriction on [Mr. Wooten-Bey’s] right to consult with his attorney during the 

luncheon recess.” Id. at 609 (emphasis in original). We declined, though, “to impose a per 

se rule of reversal where the denial of access was brief, limited in scope, and where the 

trial judge gave counsel and [Mr. Wooten-Bey] time to confer when it became apparent 

they needed to do so, thus curing any constitutional defect.” Id.  

 We found our holding consistent with Perry, noting “[t]he Perry Court found that it 

made little sense to distinguish between situations involving ineffective assistance of 

counsel and those involving a brief denial of counsel . . . .” Id. at 612 (emphasis added). 

Like the Supreme Court in Perry, we found from the record that it was “clear” that Mr. 

Wooten-Bey “had an opportunity to and did confer with his counsel during other court 

recesses.” Id. at 614. We also found our holding consistent with Geders based on the length 

of the trial court’s no-communication directive: 

[Mr. Wooten-Bey] was admittedly deprived of his right to 

counsel for a longer period of time than was the defendant in 

Perry. In Geders, the Court did not require that prejudice be 

shown primarily because of the length of the deprivation and 

strategic importance of overnight consultation before the next 
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day’s trial. The hour-long deprivation here does not rise to the 

level where prejudice to [Mr. Wooten-Bey’s] case can be 

presumed, as it was in Geders. Moreover, in the instant case, 

the trial judge remedied the deprivation by calling a recess for 

consultation shortly after lunch.  

Id. at 615 (cleaned up).  

We noted that our holding “impose[d] no requirement that a criminal defendant 

divulge the contents of privileged consultations with his attorney in order to establish 

prejudice.” Id. at 616. We held only that “where the deprivation is short enough so that 

prejudice cannot be presumed and it is apparent that the proceeding was fundamentally 

fair, a per se rule of reversal and retrial will not be applied.” Id. The Court of Appeals 

agreed with us, holding that “under the circumstances” of that specific case, there was no 

Sixth Amendment violation. Wooten-Bey, 318 Md. at 302. The Court also recognized the 

distinction between ineffective assistance of counsel claims and the actual denial of the 

assistance of counsel altogether. Id. at 307.  

 The denial of access in Mr. Clark’s case wasn’t brief—it lasted overnight. And it 

wasn’t limited in scope—the trial court imposed a blanket restriction on Mr. Clark’s 

communication with trial counsel. On direct appeal, we even admitted that Mr. Clark’s 

Geders claim failed only because he failed to preserve the issue:  

Although we conclude that Mr. Clark’s argument has merit, we 

are constrained to agree with the State that this argument is not 

preserved.  

Mr. Clark argues that the facts of his case are “nearly identical 

circumstances” to Geders v. United States, 425 U.S. 80, 96 

(1976), and they are. In Geders, the court recessed for the night 

while the defendant was on the witness stand. Id. at 82. The 

prosecutor asked the trial judge to instruct the defendant not to 

discuss the case overnight with anyone, including his own 
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attorney. Id. The Supreme Court held that the trial judge’s 

instruction violated the defendant’s constitutional right to 

counsel. Id. at 91. We see no principled distinction between the 

circumstances of Geders and this case and, to its credit, the 

State agreed when asked as much at oral argument, with one 

critical caveat. 

The critical caveat is the dispositive procedural difference 

between the two cases: defense counsel in Geders objected to 

the instruction, id. at 83, and defense counsel here didn’t. To 

preserve an issue for appellate review, a party must object at 

the time the ruling is made. Md. Rule 4-323(c). If a party is 

given an opportunity to object but fails to do so, he has waived 

the objection, Hill v. State, 355 Md. 206, 219 (1999), and we 

generally “will not decide . . . any other issue unless it plainly 

appears by the record to have been raised in or decided by the 

trial court.” Maryland Rule 8-131. Counsel’s decision, for 

whatever reason, not to object left the trial court with no 

opportunity to address the error. 

Clark, slip op. at 13–14, 2020 WL 3498463 at *7–*8. 

 Just as in Geders, the no-communication directive violated Mr. Clark’s Sixth 

Amendment right to the assistance of counsel at trial. At the close of his direct examination, 

the court instructed Mr. Clark, who was on the witness stand, that he couldn’t “talk to 

anybody about the case” during the overnight recess. The trial court acknowledged that 

“[i]t sounds counter intuitive[,]” but instructed Mr. Clark that he couldn’t even talk to his 

own attorney about the case. In real life and under the binding and most analytically 

congruent cases—Geders, Perry, and Wooten-Bey—the trial court’s no-communication 

directive prevented Mr. Clark from communicating with his attorney, and the violation was 

complete when the directive was given and followed. 
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C. The Post-Conviction Court Found Correctly That Mr. Clark’s Trial 

Counsel Rendered Ineffective Assistance Of Counsel By Failing To 

Object To The No-Communication Directive. 

The State argues next that, when viewed through the Strickland lens, the 

post-conviction court “erred . . . by finding that not objecting to the directive was deficient 

performance.” “And even if trial counsel performed deficiently,” the State asserts, the 

post-conviction court “erred further by effectively presuming prejudice under the 

structural-error standard that applies to preserved Geders errors on direct appeal, rather 

than considering whether [Mr.] Clark met his burden to demonstrate Strickland prejudice.” 

The majority focuses solely on the prejudice prong, but in my view, Mr. Clark satisfied 

both halves of the Strickland analysis, whether he needed to or not. 

1. Trial counsel’s failure to object satisfies the deficient performance prong. 

The State contends that the post-conviction court erred in finding that trial counsel’s 

failure to object to the court’s no-communication directive constituted deficient 

performance. Citing trial counsel’s testimony at the post-conviction hearing, the State 

argues that trial counsel had “a reasonable basis not to object” because “there was no topic 

about which [trial counsel] and [Mr.] Clark needed to communicate.” This, in the State’s 

view, was a strategic decision: 

Even if there might arguably have been “no downside” to 

objecting, it is inherently strategic and tactical to refrain from 

objecting when there is equally no upside. Where [trial 

counsel] and [Mr.] Clark had no need to communicate during 

the overnight recess, it [] was reasonable to preserve defense 

counsel’s resources and the court’s time and patience by 

forgoing a pro forma constitutional demand for an opportunity 

to communicate which the defense had no intention of actually 

exercising.  
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Mr. Clark disagrees, arguing that trial counsel’s failure to object fell below prevailing 

professional norms and was not a reasonable trial strategy or tactic.  

 To satisfy the deficient performance prong, Mr. Clark must demonstrate that his trial 

“counsel made errors so serious that counsel was not functioning as the ‘counsel’ 

guaranteed [him] by the Sixth Amendment.” Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687. In other words, 

trial counsel’s representation must “f[a]ll below an objective standard of reasonableness[,]” 

measured by “prevailing professional norms.” Id. at 688. Mr. Clark also must prove that 

“such action was not pursued as a form of trial strategy.” Coleman, 434 Md. at 331 

(citations omitted). “Judicial scrutiny of counsel’s performance must be highly 

deferential”: 

It is all too tempting for a defendant to second-guess counsel’s 

assistance after conviction or adverse sentence, and it is all too 

easy for a court, examining counsel’s defense after it has 

proved unsuccessful, to conclude that a particular act or 

omission of counsel was unreasonable. . . . A fair assessment 

of attorney performance requires that every effort be made to 

eliminate the distorting effects of hindsight, to reconstruct the 

circumstances of counsel’s challenged conduct, and to evaluate 

the conduct from counsel’s perspective at the time. Because of 

the difficulties inherent in making the evaluation, a court must 

indulge a strong presumption that counsel’s conduct falls 

within the wide range of reasonable professional assistance; 

that is, the defendant must overcome the presumption that, 

under the circumstances, the challenged action might be 

considered sound trial strategy.  

Strickland, 466 U.S. at 689 (cleaned up).  

 On direct appeal, we “confess[ed] that we [couldn’t] think of any reason why 

counsel would opt not to object to the trial judge’s instruction that Mr. Clark not consult 

with his attorney overnight[,]” but also couldn’t “eliminate the possibility, however slim, 
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that counsel had a legitimate strategic or tactical reason for letting the instruction go . . . .” 

Clark, slip op. at 14, 2020 WL 3498463 at *8. The post-conviction court couldn’t find one 

either, and the post-conviction record confirms our conclusion that Mr. Clark’s trial 

counsel had no “legitimate strategic or tactical reason for letting the instruction go . . . .” 

Id.  

 Coleman provides an instructive starting point. Mr. Coleman was charged with 

first-degree murder and related charges. Coleman, 434 Md. at 325. When he was arrested, 

Mr. Coleman was advised of his Miranda rights twice before being interrogated. Id. at 326. 

At several points throughout the interrogation, Mr. Coleman chose to remain silent. Id. at 

327. At trial, the detective who interrogated Mr. Coleman referenced Mr. Coleman’s 

post-Miranda silence “approximately 30 times in total” and commented on Mr. Coleman’s 

“nonverbal behavior during questioning . . . .” Id. at 327–28. Defense counsel did not object 

to the detective’s testimony. Id. at 328. The jury convicted Mr. Coleman and he was 

sentenced to life without parole. Id.  

 At a post-conviction hearing, trial counsel for Mr. Coleman testified “that he was 

unaware that he could object to the references to [Mr.] Coleman’s silence under the 

principles of Miranda.” Id. at 338. On appeal from denial of post-conviction relief, Mr. 

Coleman argued “that he received ineffective assistance of counsel when his trial counsel 

failed to object to multiple instances during trial where the State brought into evidence that 

[Mr.] Coleman had remained silent in the face of police questioning after [he] had been 

given Miranda warnings.” Id. at 331–32. According to Mr. Coleman, the detective’s 

references to his silence during interrogation violated his Fifth Amendment rights, and by 
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failing to object, defense counsel rendered deficient performance. Id. at 332.  

 The Court of Appeals agreed with Mr. Coleman and could “not see how trial 

counsel’s failure to object because of his ignorance of the law could possibly be seen as 

sound trial strategy or a strategic choice” because “a reasonably competent attorney in this 

situation would have raised an objection.” Id. at 338. Further, the Court reasoned, “even if 

trial counsel believed that his failure to object was a trial tactic, we conclude . . . that the 

failure to object . . . fell significantly below the objective standard of reasonableness and 

that the first prong of Strickland was therefore established.” Id. at 340 (cleaned up). The 

Court held that trial counsel’s failure to object “was deficient because it fell below the 

range of competence demanded of attorneys in criminal cases and was not pursued in 

furtherance of sound trial strategy.” Id.  

 So too here. During Mr. Clark’s post-conviction hearing, post-conviction counsel 

asked trial counsel whether they were familiar with the Geders rule: 

[POST-CONVICTION COUNSEL]: At [the] time [of trial], 

were you familiar with the United States Supreme Court’s 

holding in Geders versus the United States? 

[TRIAL COUNSEL]: Not with specificity, no. 

[POST-CONVICTION COUNSEL]: Okay. And just to clarify, 

I’m referring to the case that the opinion came out in 1976. The 

citation is 425 U.S. 80. So, your testimony again is that you 

were not familiar with the Court’s holding in that case that Mr. 

Clark had a right to confer with you? 

[TRIAL COUNSEL]: He always has a right to confer with me 

but if you’re asking me, did I read that particular case . . . and 

know it specifically, that case, no. I know he had a right to talk 

to me and if he said he had anything to say, I would have talked 

to him.  

Similar to Mr. Coleman’s trial counsel’s ignorance of Miranda, Mr. Clark’s trial counsel’s 
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ignorance of Geders cannot be viewed as “sound trial strategy or a strategic choice.” 

Coleman, 434 Md. at 338. Trial counsel’s failure to object provided no potential benefit to 

Mr. Clark. I agree with Mr. Clark that “[a]ny reasonable attorney in [trial counsel’s] 

position would have expected Mr. Clark to have questions and concerns in an overnight 

recess following their direct examination. Mr. Clark was, after all, going to be 

cross-examined by prosecutors the next morning about allegedly murdering someone.” A 

reasonable attorney would have objected. Therefore, the post-conviction court did not err 

in concluding that “[n]one of trial counsel’s testimony indicated that there was a ‘legitimate 

strategic or tactical reason for letting the instruction go.’”  

 I disagree as well with the State’s contention that “it was objectively reasonable not 

to object” because trial counsel “was aware that [Mr.] Clark had the right to communicate 

with him during the recess . . . , but he had nothing he needed to communicate with [Mr.] 

Clark about.” When asked why he didn’t object, trial counsel responded that he felt no need 

because “I just didn’t have anything to go over with him because I thought he was doing 

good on the witness stand.” The State asserts that because “there is no evidence that [Mr.] 

Clark or his counsel intended or needed to communicate during the recess[,]” trial counsel 

acted reasonably in forgoing an objection.  

But what matters here is that the right to effective assistance of counsel belonged 

solely to Mr. Clark. Just because “trial counsel may not have been aware of any need to 

consult with [Mr. Clark] overnight” doesn’t mean that that was what Mr. Clark really 

wanted. As the post-conviction court emphasized, Mr. Clark may very well have desired 

to communicate with his lawyer during the overnight recess but was prevented from doing 
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so by the no-communication directive itself.6 To require otherwise is to require him to 

disobey the court’s order under pain of waiver. Trial counsel’s assumption “that he was not 

obliged to object because Mr. Clark allegedly neither requested a post-trial meeting before 

or after his direct examination” stood in direct contrast with Strickland’s mandate that 

counsel function “as the ‘counsel’ guaranteed the defendant by the Sixth Amendment.” 

466 U.S. at 687. On this record, the post-conviction court found correctly that Mr. Clark 

met his burden of satisfying Strickland’s deficient performance prong. 

2. Because of trial counsel’s failure to object to the court’s no-communication 

directive, Mr. Clark was totally deprived of counsel. Therefore, prejudice is 

properly presumed.  

 

The State argues relatedly, and the majority agrees, that the post-conviction court 

erred in presuming that trial counsel’s failure to object to the court’s no-communication 

directive prejudiced Mr. Clark. But this position flows entirely from the view that no 

Geders violation occurred. Because “no perfected Geders error occurred,” the State 

contends, there was no actual denial of the assistance of counsel. Because there was no 

actual denial of counsel, Mr. Clark “like most petitioners who allege ineffective assistance 

of counsel,” carries the burden of proving Strickland prejudice. Therefore, the State says, 

 
6 In its reply brief, the State asserts that Mr. Clark’s complaint “that the right to 

consultation belonged to him, and that it was impossible for [trial counsel] to know whether 

[Mr.] Clark wished to communicate with him” “might have more force if [Mr.] Clark had 

testified at the postconviction hearing that he wanted to consult with counsel during the 

overnight recess but had not attempted to do so due to the trial court’s admonishment.” 

And it’s true that such testimony might have provided further evidence that trial counsel 

rendered deficient performance. But it’s equally true that trial counsel’s testimony 

supported the post-conviction court’s finding that Mr. Clark satisfied the deficient 

performance prong of Strickland.  
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the post-conviction court’s presumption of prejudice constituted reversible error. And the 

majority takes this an unnecessary step further—instead of holding simply that Mr. Clark’s 

failure to object requires him to satisfy Strickland, the majority holds that any defendant 

ordered not to confer with counsel has to prove that they wanted to confer with counsel as 

a condition of proving their Sixth Amendment right was deprived:  

We hold that, although an order to the defendant not to discuss 

his or her testimony with anyone during an overnight recess is 

improper, it does not, by itself, constitute a deprivation of the 

right to counsel. Rather, to show that the instruction resulted in 

a violation of the defendant’s Sixth Amendment right to 

counsel, there must be some evidence that there was a 

deprivation of the right to counsel. This evidence may be in the 

form of an objection to the court’s instruction or some other 

evidence showing that the defendant wanted to speak with 

counsel and would have done so absent the instruction. In the 

absence of a showing of an actual deprivation of the Sixth 

Amendment right to counsel, the defendant is not entitled to a 

presumption of prejudice. 

 

Slip op. at 16–17. 

 

 Put another way, the majority holds that the Sixth Amendment didn’t entitle Mr. 

Clark to confer with his counsel during a murder trial—it entitled Mr. Clark to confer with 

his counsel only if he asked to. In the majority’s formulation, the court can take away a 

defendant’s right to counsel unless he proves that he planned to use it right then, never 

mind the court ordering him not to.    

Geders says otherwise, but in any event I’m unwilling to view the right to counsel 

in conditional terms. And as I’ve already explained, a completed Geders violation occurred 

when the trial court issued its no-communication directive after Mr. Clark’s direct 

testimony and deprived him of the right to confer with his counsel overnight. The Supreme 
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Court’s statement in Perry—that its “citation of Geders” in the Strickland opinion “was 

intended to make clear that actual or constructive denial of the assistance of counsel 

altogether is not subject to the kind of prejudice analysis that is appropriate in determining 

whether the quality of a lawyer’s performance itself has been constitutionally 

ineffective”—drives the outcome here. Perry, 488 U.S. at 280 (cleaned up).  

And that could end the analysis. But because there can be confusion about when 

post-conviction courts can presume prejudice (and thus bypass the second prong of 

Strickland), I’ll walk through the rest of it.  

I pick up with both Strickland and Cronic, in which the Supreme Court held 

unambiguously that when a criminal defendant is actually or constructively denied the 

assistance of counsel, prejudice is presumed. See Strickland, 466 U.S. at 692 (“Actual or 

constructive denial of the assistance of counsel altogether is legally presumed to result in 

prejudice.”); Cronic, 466 U.S. at 658–59 (“There are [] circumstances that are so likely to 

prejudice the accused that the cost of litigating their effect in a particular case is unjustified. 

Most obvious, of course, is the complete denial of counsel.”). The majority and the State 

point to Newton, where, at the close of Mr. Newton’s trial for attempted first-degree 

murder, the trial court informed the parties that it was “‘open to any request that . . . the 

alternate [juror] go to the Jury Room with instructions not to participate . . . .’” 455 Md. at 

348. The State and Mr. Newton’s defense counsel both agreed to this arrangement. Id. After 

Mr. Newton was convicted and exhausted his direct appeals, he filed a petition for 

post-conviction relief and alleged that defense counsel “was ineffective because he failed 

to object to an alternate juror being present in the jury room during deliberations . . . .” Id. 
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at 350. The post-conviction court found that Mr. Newton was entitled to a new trial, but 

we reversed, and before the Court of Appeals, Mr. Newton asserted “that the alternate’s 

presence during deliberations was structural error, and, therefore, prejudice is 

presumed . . . .” Id. at 352.  

A quick detour to distinguish structural errors from trial errors. A structural error is 

“[a] defect in a trial mechanism or framework that, by deprivation of basic constitutional 

protections, taints the trial process, making it unreliable and rendering any punishment 

fundamentally unfair.” Structural Error, Black’s Law Dictionary (11th ed. 2019). Preserved 

structural errors are “per se prejudicial” and “require[] automatic reversal.” Id. 

Unpreserved structural errors, however, “are not automatically reversible, but, instead, are 

subject to plain error review.” Savoy v. State, 420 Md. 232, 243 n.4 (2011) (citations 

omitted). A trial error, on the other hand, is “[a] mistake in or deviation from proper trial 

procedure during the presentation of a case to a jury, usually without substantial or 

injurious effect or influence on the jury’s decision-making process.” Trial Error, Black’s 

Law Dictionary (11th ed. 2019). Trial errors do “not require automatic reversal” and are 

thus “subject to harmless-error analysis . . . .” Id. 

The Supreme Court has not considered expressly whether a Geders violation is a 

structural error or a trial error, and neither have our courts. But the Supreme Court has 

decided that the actual denial of assistance of counsel in general is structural error. See, 

e.g., Greer v. United States, 141 S. Ct. 2090, 2100 (2021) (citations omitted); Weaver v. 

Massachusetts, 137 S. Ct. 1899, 1907 (2017); United States v. Davila, 569 U.S. 597, 599 

(2013); Johnson v. United States, 520 U.S. 461, 468–69 (1997) (citing Gideon v. 
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Wainwright, 372 U.S. 335 (1963)). And so have Maryland’s appellate courts. See, e.g., 

Newton v. State, 455 Md. 341, 361 (2017); Montgomery v. State, 206 Md. App. 357, 373 

(2012) (citations omitted); Harris v. State, 406 Md. 115, 130 (2008); Redman v. State, 363 

Md. 298, 303 n.5 (2001).  

Back to Newton: the Court of Appeals “analyze[d] how structural error interacts 

with a postconviction ineffective-assistance-of-counsel claim.” 455 Md. at 353. The Court 

cited the Supreme Court’s decision in Weaver, where Ms. Weaver had “argued that the 

presumption of prejudice due to a structural error—a violation of her public-trial right—

satisfied Strickland’s prejudice prong.” Id. at 356 (citing Weaver, 137 S. Ct. at 1911). The 

Supreme Court disagreed with Ms. Weaver and “assumed . . . that the prejudice prong 

could be satisfied if the attorney’s errors were ‘so serious as to render [the] trial 

fundamentally unfair[.]’” Id. (quoting Weaver, 137 S. Ct. at 1911). The Court of Appeals 

found the explanation from Weaver instructive—“that ‘the reasons an error is deemed 

structural may influence the proper standard used to evaluate an ineffective-assistance 

claim premised on the failure to object to that error.’” Id. (quoting Weaver, 137 S. Ct. at 

1907). And based on this explanation, the Supreme Court in Weaver “explained that even 

though a public-trial right violation requires automatic reversal on direct appeal, it is still 

analyzed under the Strickland framework when raised as part of an 

ineffective-assistance-of-counsel claim.” Id. at 356.  

Applying the Supreme Court’s reasoning in Weaver to Mr. Newton’s case, the Court 

of Appeals held that “[a]lthough jury secrecy is important to ensuring that a criminal 

defendant has a fair trial, the presence of an alternate juror in deliberations does not clear 
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the high bar of fundamental unfairness—at least not in this case.” Id. at 361. The Court 

went on to describe that “[t]he Supreme Court has found only a handful of circumstances 

that render a trial fundamentally unfair, including: the complete deprivation of counsel, 

Gideon, 372 U.S. at 343–44 . . . .” Id.  

Two years after Newton, the Court of Appeals decided Ramirez v. State, 464 Md. 

532 (2019). After being convicted of armed robbery and related charges, Mr. Ramirez 

sought post-conviction relief, “contending that trial counsel engaged in ineffective 

assistance of counsel by not moving to strike [a juror] for cause based on his response to 

[a] question and by not using a peremptory challenge against” the same juror. Id. at 540. 

On appeal after relief was denied, Mr. Ramirez argued “that the presumption of prejudice 

applies because his trial counsel caused structural error.” Id. at 559. The Court of Appeals 

was tasked with determining “whether trial counsel’s conduct fell below an objective 

standard of reasonableness, and, if so, whether a presumption of prejudice applies, or 

whether the petitioner must prove prejudice, where he alleges that trial counsel’s conduct 

resulted in structural error.” Id. at 539.  

The Court of Appeals, referencing Strickland and Cronic, held that prejudice should 

be presumed “only if: (1) the petitioner was actually denied the assistance of counsel; 

(2) the petitioner was constructively denied the assistance of counsel; or (3) the petitioner’s 

counsel had an actual conflict of interest.” Id. at 573. “Absent these three circumstances, 

the presumption of prejudice does not apply, and the petitioner must prove prejudice.” Id. 

The Court noted that it “has also recognized that the Strickland and Cronic presumption of 

prejudice does not apply simply because the petitioner alleges that [their] trial counsel 
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caused structural error.” Id. at 575. The Court determined that the presumption of prejudice 

did not apply to Mr. Ramirez’s case because “there was no actual or constructive denial of 

the assistance of counsel altogether . . . .” Id. at 577 (cleaned up).  

 The State relied on Weaver, Newton, and Ramirez to argue that the post-conviction 

court here committed reversible error “by failing to recognize that a ‘different standard’ 

applies to ‘evaluating a structural error depending on whether it is raised on direct review 

or raised instead in a claim alleging ineffective assistance of counsel.’” In conjunction, and 

although it acknowledges that prejudice is properly presumed if the defendant is actually 

denied the assistance of counsel, the State maintains, and the majority agrees, that Mr. 

Clark failed to demonstrate that he was actually denied the assistance of counsel. But 

public-trial right violations, a defense attorney’s failure to object to the presence of an 

alternate juror during deliberations, and a defense attorney’s failure to move to strike a 

juror for cause all are fundamentally different from failing to object to a trial court’s order 

categorically forbidding a defendant to speak with their attorney during an overnight 

recess.  

 Again, Mr. Clark was, in fact, denied the assistance of counsel when the trial court 

instructed him that he could not communicate with trial counsel during the overnight 

recess. For those hours between the close of the fourth day of trial and the start of the fifth, 

Mr. Clark was completely and fully deprived of access to his attorney. It’s possible that he 

or his counsel could have protested or negotiated some other intermediate arrangement, but 

they didn’t, and the deprivation actually happened. The post-conviction court was correct 

in presuming that Mr. Clark was prejudiced by his trial counsel’s failure to object to the 
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trial court’s no-communication directive.  

*   *   * 

Mr. Clark had the right to counsel throughout his trial, and never lost that right when 

the court ordered him not to confer with his counsel. But based on the majority’s holding, 

his counsel’s failure to preserve his right for him places him in the circularly impossible 

position of having to prove that he meant to use the right he already had in order to establish 

that the court deprived it—even though we know that the court’s order in reality deprived 

him of any opportunity to confer with his lawyer overnight. The majority’s analysis 

disengages Mr. Clark’s rights from reality in a way that’s inconsistent with the Supreme 

Court and Maryland cases establishing the higher constitutional principles. I would affirm 

the judgment of the post-conviction court and I dissent, respectfully, from the majority’s 

decisions otherwise.  
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  MR. CRYAN:   May I proceed, Your Honor? 

  THE COURT:   You may. 

*** 

DIRECT EXAMINATION 

BY MR. CRYAN:     

 Q. Good afternoon, Mr. Clark.  How are you? 

 A. Fine, and you? 

 Q. Good.  How many times, if any, did Mr. Garcia meet 

with you after your sentencing hearing? 

 A. After my sentencing hearing, never. 

 Q. Did he ever speak with you about -- or ever consult 

with you after your sentencing hearing about applying for a 

three-judge-panel? 

 A. No, he didn’t. 

 Q. Did you have any legal training at that time? 

 A. No. 

 Q. Were you aware of how to file a three-judge-panel? 

 A. No.  I asked him.  He ignored me.  

 Q. Were you aware of any of the legal principles behind 

post-trial motions, the Maryland Rules or any case law? 

 A. No.   

 Q. Did Mr. Garcia ever discuss a motion for modification 

with you? 

 A. No. 
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 Q. Did he ever discuss any post-trial motions of any 

kind? 

 A. No.  

 Q. Had Mr. Garcia requested or had Mr. Garcia informed 

you about filing a three-judge-panel, would you have wanted to 

pursue that application? 

 A. Yes, I would have, but he didn’t. 

  MR. CRYAN:   I have no further questions.  Thank you, 

Mr. Clark. 

  THE COURT:   Questions? 

*** 

CROSS-EXAMINATION 

BY MR. NELSEN:     

 Q. Mr. Clark, you were present at your sentencing? 

 A. Yes, I was. 

 Q. And you were present when a record was made in open 

court in front of the judge where Mr. Garcia told you of your 

post-trial rights, right?  He said a bunch things.  You have a 

right to appeal.  You have to do that within thirty days. 

 A. It was told but not explained. 

 Q. He said you have ninety days to file a motion for 

modification of sentence? 

 A. It was told but not explained.  It was told by Judge 

McCrone.   
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 Q. And then he said, you have a right to request a 

three-judge-panel? 

 A. I heard about Judge McCrone because I asked -- 

 Q. Okay. 

 A. -- Mr. Garcia what was it? 

 Q. Okay.  Let’s get to that then.  You just testified at 

the start of your testimony that you never once consulted with 

him about any of these things.  And now, it’s the second time 

you said it, that once Judge McCrone advised you, the reason 

that you remember it is because you asked Mr. Garcia about it.  

So, did you consult with Mr. Garcia or did you not consult with 

Mr. Garcia? 

 A. Consult isn’t explaining it to me.  He never 

explained it to me.   

 Q. You asked him, and he refused? 

 A. Yes, he did. 

 Q. He refused to tell you?  He refused to answer your 

question -- 

  MR. CRYAN:   Objection, Your Honor.  Asked and 

answered several times.  

  THE COURT:   Okay.  I’ll sustain that unless you have 

a different question. 

  MR. NELSEN:   I’ll ask in a different format. 

  THE COURT:   Okay. 

BY MR. NELSEN:    
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 Q. When did you ask him? 

 A. After McCrone -- Judge McCrone said something about 

it, and I asked him what was it?  And he never told me.  And 

that was in open court.   

 Q. Okay.  So, you asked him in the courtroom -- 

 A. Uh-huh. 

 Q. -- what it was all about? 

 A. Uh-huh. 

 Q. How long after that did you stop wanting the services 

of Mr. Garcia? 

 A. He got fired the next day.   

 Q. All right.  So, Mr. Garcia fired you the next -- you 

fired him the next day.  And it’s your testimony that between 

Judge McCrone advising you on the record of those rights and 

the next day when you fired him, you didn’t consult with him 

about any of these things, right? 

 A. No, I did not.   

 Q. So, you agree with me what happens at the end of your 

sentencing is you left the courtroom and they took you to jail, 

right? 

 A. Uh-huh.  

 Q. Right? 

 A. Yes, they did. 

 Q. And then you fired him the next day? 

 A. Uh-huh. 
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 Q. How on earth would a fired attorney have the ability 

to consult with you about those things after you fired him? 

 A. Because he did what he wanted to do.  He took it upon 

himself to do it. 

 Q. Okay.  So, the motion for modification of sentence, 

you’re mad -- you believe he did without your permission and he 

did not -- you affirmatively didn’t want him to do it? 

 A. And he sent me a letter saying he did it without my 

permission. 

 Q. Okay.  I understand that.  Let’s deal -- I’ll just 

deal with them one at a time.  You modification of sentence, 

did you want one filed or not?  Yes or no? 

 A. No, I did not.  

 Q. Ever? 

 A. No, I did not.    

 Q. Okay.  Fine.  You didn’t want a modification of 

sentence.  No harm, no foul there.  Three-judge-panel, did you 

want one or not? 

 A. Once I found out what it was, I did.   

 Q. Okay.  You fired Mr. Garcia the next day, that’s day 

one.  Now you’re down to twenty-nine days. 

 A. It was fifty-nine.   

 Q. Okay.  What did you do during that, I said twenty-

nine and you said fifty-nine, days to investigate, hire a new 

attorney and consult with them about your three-judge-panel? 
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 A. I didn’t really know anything about it.  I hired a 

new lawyer and I found out when I went to the library and 

researched it myself in the library.  I’m not a lawyer.  How 

can I know something like that?  I had legal help in the law 

library. 

 Q. All right.  When did you hire a new lawyer?  

 A. Two days later.  

 Q. You hired a new lawyer two days later? 

 A. Yes, I did. 

 Q. Did you post-convict him? 

 A. No, I didn’t.  I’m not a lawyer.  How would I know 

how to post-convict? 

 Q. Are you post-convicting it now? 

 A. No. 

 Q. Afterall, you had twenty-eight additional days to 

file a three-judge-panel. 

  MR. CRYAN:   Objection, Your Honor.  That’s beyond 

the scope and irrelevant.   

  MR. NELSEN:   He’s got to show prejudice.  I’m trying 

to say that he was not prejudiced.  He had twenty-eight more 

days to consult with his new lawyer.   

  MR. CRYAN:   He’s inquiring about a post-convicting, 

a post -- I was asking Mr. Clark about two narrow issues.  That 

doesn’t apply. 

  MR. NELSEN:   I haven’t left any of those two issues.   
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  THE COURT:   Okay.  I’m going to overrule.  He can 

answer. 

BY MR. NELSEN:    

 Q. All right.  You fired Mr. Garcia on day one.  Judge 

McCrone had said you had thirty days to this whole thing.  

After you fired Mr. Garcia on day two, you got a new attorney, 

right? 

 A. Uh-huh. 

 Q. Thirty minus two is twenty-eight, correct? 

 A. Well, it was fifty-nine but yes. 

 Q. Okay.  Let’s say fifty-nine.  All right.  You thought 

you had fifty-nine days.  What did you do in the next fifty-

nine days? 

 A. I hired a new lawyer and I let my lawyer take care of 

everything.  I’m not an attorney.  I don’t know these things. 

 Q. Okay.  So, you would agree with me that Mr. Garcia 

didn’t do it on day one, but it was your new attorney that 

didn’t do it after day two? 

 A. No.  Garcia did it on his own without me knowing and 

sent me a letter. 

 Q. All right, let’s separate it.  You’re talking about 

the modification of sentence.  We already addressed that he 

filed it against your will, and you don’t want one and it was 

denied anyway so no harm, no foul.  We’ve already established 
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that.  I’m talking about the three-judge-panel.  Do you now 

wish that you had had one? 

 A. Yes, I do because I didn’t find out until later.   

 Q. Okay.  I’m trying to determine whose fault that is 

 A. And I went to a legal law library. 

 Q. I’m trying to determine whose fault that is.  One day 

one if was Mr. Garcia’s fault, correct, because he was still 

your attorney.  He’s supposed to tell you about such things, 

right? 

 A. Yes.  

 Q. All right.  So, now we only have twenty-nine days to 

consult with an attorney, in your mind, fifty-nine, but fifty-

nine days, let’s use your math, to consult with an attorney 

about whether you should do what Judge McCrone said you had the 

right to do.  What did you do after day two, after you fired 

Tony Garcia, to discuss with anybody your right to a three-

judge-panel? 

 A. Well, I didn’t understand what it was, and it was his 

job to help me understand what it was.  Garcia did not do that.   

 Q. Well, let’s -- 

 A. I didn’t know for fifty-nine days what a three-judge-

panel was. 

 Q. Let’s dig into that.  You’re mad at Mr. Garcia for 

doing something after you fired him, right?  He filed a motion 

for modification -- 

Appx. 68



                                                        132 

 
1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

  MR. CRYAN:   Your Honor, I’m going to renew my 

objection, a continuing objection at this point.  It’s been 

asked and answered several times.  He’s giving the same answer. 

  MR. NELSEN:   He cannot answer the question thirty 

times.  I’m going to keep asking it until he answers it.   

  THE COURT:   Overruled.   

BY MR. NELSEN:    

 Q. You wanted Mr. Garcia to explain the three-judge-

panel to you? 

 A. I didn’t know what it was. 

 Q. Okay.  I understand.  Did you want him to explain it 

to you after you fired him? 

 A. No, when we were in the courtroom.  It’s in the 

transcripts. 

 Q. I got you.  So -- 

 A. I asked him in the court what was it and he did not 

explain.  It’s in the transcripts. 

 Q. Understood.  Now I understand the basis of your 

complaint.  The basis of your complaint is that he didn’t 

consult with you on the first day? 

 A. He never consulted with me, let me know what it was, 

period.  He ignored me. 

 Q. But he wasn’t -- but you weren’t going to let him 

consult with you after you fired him, right? 
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 A. No, it was in the court during trial.  It was in the 

transcript.   

 Q. Okay, got you.  Understood.  The modification of 

sentence is something he did about your post-trial rights 

without your permission after you fired him.  We agree on that.  

Right? 

 A. Yes. 

 Q. All right.  So, you’re upset that he did one thing 

after you fired him and you’re upset about a second thing that 

he didn’t do after you fired him? 

 A. No, he still was my lawyer, and he could have did it. 

 Q. So, should he have filed the request for three-judge-

panel? 

 A. He could have did it that day -- he could have 

informed me that day in court, but he never told me anything 

when I asked him about it. 

 Q. Okay.  Understood. 

 A. When I asked him about it, he ignored it. 

 Q. All right.  Did your new attorney file it? 

 A. I didn’t know what it was.   

 Q. You didn’t -- 

 A. I didn’t find out until months later what it was.  I 

never knew what it was. 

 Q. All right.  I understand that.  You hired a second -- 

you just testified that you got a new attorney -- 
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 A. Yes, I did. 

 Q. -- two days after the trial.  Did he file anything on 

your behalf? 

 A. I don’t know.  I’m not a lawyer. 

 Q. Okay.  Understood.  Now, let’s talk about what you 

were able to accomplish based on Judge McCrone’s advice within 

thirty days after trial.  Did you file an appeal in this case? 

 A. Yes, I did.  Direct appeal.  

 Q. And that appeal has to be filed within thirty days 

after Judge McCrone tells you you have thirty days, right? 

 A. I’m not sure.  I’m not a lawyer. 

 Q. Well, how did you get that done?  Do you know? 

 A. Through a lawyer. 

 Q. Okay.  Perfect.  So, you have a lawyer.  He did one 

thing within thirty days, filed an appeal.  He did not file the 

motion for modification of sentence.  Mr. Garcia did that 

against your wishes and you didn’t want one anyway.  And he 

also did not request a three-judge panel.  Fair? 

 A. No, he did not. 

 Q. Perfect. 

  MR. CRYAN:   Your Honor, may I? 

  MR. NELSEN:   I have noth -- yeah, I’m done, Your 

Honor.  Thank you. 

  THE COURT:   Okay.  Go right ahead. 

*** 
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REDIRECT 

BY MR. CRYAN: 

 Q. So, Mr. Clark, did you ask Mr. Garcia, please contact 

me after I fired you?  

 A. No, I didn’t. 

 Q. So, you never told him -- you never had -- you didn’t 

maintain communication with Mr. Garcia? 

 A. None. 

 Q. Okay.  So, is your issue that you’re mad -- regarding 

the three-judge panel, is your issue that he didn’t consult you 

after you fired or that he never consulted you while you had 

him as your attorney? 

 A. He never consulted me in Court and it’s in the 

transcripts.  I asked him what was it and he didn’t tell me.  

He ignored me.    

 Q. Okay.  And then briefly regarding the appeal issue 

that was raised by the State, you had an appellate attorney who 

was representing you on the appeal, Correct. 

 A. Yes. 

 Q. Okay.  And you didn’t note the appeal yourself, 

right? 

 A. No.   

 Q. You didn’t file the appellate brief yourself? 

 A. No. 
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 Q. Did you know anything about the rules of the 

appellate procedure? 

 A. No. 

 Q. Or the general rules of criminal procedure? 

 A. No.  

  MR. CRYAN:   No further questions.  Thank you.  

  THE COURT:   Anything else from the State? 

  MR. NELSEN:   Just quickly 

*** 

RECROSS 

BY MR. NELSEN:     

 Q. That person that handled your appeal, you didn’t know 

anything about it, so you asked him, right? 

 A. Asked him what? 

 Q. Well, you know that you needed attorney for an 

appeal, right?  You wanted an appeal? 

 A. I knew I needed I lawyers, period.  I’m not a lawyer.  

I’m not going to represent myself. 

 Q. Okay.  And that appellate attorney helped explain to 

you the appeal process, right. 

 A. I didn’t really -- I let him -- I mean he explained 

things to me but I’m not a lawyer.  That’s his job.  I don’t 

understand that stuff. 

 Q. Did you ask him the same questions you asked Mr. 

Garcia on the sentencing date?                               
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 A. No, because Garcia was my trial lawyer.  He wasn’t.  

 Q. What, you get a different lawyer for different parts?  

Did you get a different lawyer for the three-judge-panel?  

 Q. Did I get -- I didn’t have one so how would I get a 

different lawyer for something I didn’t have.   

 A. All right.  So you sought an attorney for an appeal, 

right?  You have to look for one.  You don’t just -- they don’t 

have one waiting for you at the jail? 

 A. I already had one waiting.  I already planned on 

firing Mr. Garcia because I didn’t like his performance.   

 Q. Perfect. 

 A. As a lawyer.   

  MR. NELSEN:   I have nothing further, Your Honor.  

  MR. CRYAN:   One last question, please, Your Honor. 

  THE COURT:   Sure.  

*** 

REDIRECT 

BY MR. CRYAN:     

 Q. So, why did you have an appellate attorney? 

 A. Because I wanted to go to the next step in the court 

proceeding.   

 Q. So, an appellate attorney is taking care of your 

appeal, right? 

 A. Yes. 

 Q. Not your trial or your post-trial motions? 
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